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Putting the Pieces in Place for a

   Bright Future



Putting the Pieces in Place has been the central focus of both our 

near-term and longer-term business strategy. The acquisitions of 

leading-edge technologies and scientific capabilities, implementation 

of international licensing agreements and the addition of high-profile 

executives have enabled Fuel Tech to launch new products,  

expand into additional market segments and broaden its business 

opportunities. Through strategic focus, diligent work and the 

leveraging of our unique position in the clean energy marketplace, 

Fuel Tech has made great strides on behalf of our stockholders

to secure a Bright Future.
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Fuel Tech, Inc. nASDAQ: FTeK

is a fully integrated company utilizing a suite of advanced technologies to provide 

boiler and combustion optimization, efficiency improvement, and air pollution reduction 

and control solutions to utility and industrial customers worldwide. The company’s 

core activities center on its nitrogen oxide (nOx) reduction systems and processes 

and its unique application of chemicals to improve combustion unit performance. 

Fuel Tech’s products and services rely heavily on the company’s exceptional 

computational Fluid Dynamics modeling skills, which are enhanced by internally 

developed, high-end visualization software. Additional information can be found at 

www.ftek.com.

(millions of dollars, except share and per-share data) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues $ 81.1 $ 80.3 $ 75.1
net income $ 3.6 $ 7.2 $ 6.8

net income per common Share:
 Basic $ 0.15 $ 0.33 $ 0.32
 Diluted $ 0.15 $ 0.29 $ 0.28

Weighted-average common Shares outstanding (000):
 Basic 23,608 22,280 21,491
 Diluted 24,590 24,720 24,187

net cash provided by operating activities $ 8.0 $ 4.1 $ 8.2

cash and short-term investments* $ 28.1 $ 32.5 $ 32.4
Working capital* $ 44.3 $ 45.1 $ 38.7
Stockholders’ equity* $ 73.8 $ 63.2 $ 47.7

closing stock price per common Share* $ 10.59 $ 22.65 $ 24.64

*At year end

Financial highlights
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2008 began with high expectations for Fuel Tech as we achieved 
a record-setting performance in the fourth quarter of 2007 
and ended that year with a very strong backlog of work yet to 
be completed. The company responded with record financial 
results through the first half of 2008. however, external events 
during the second half of 2008 changed the course of the year 
and had a profound effect on world economies and on Fuel Tech, 
especially our air pollution control (APc) business segment. 
Yet, even in the midst of the world economic crisis, our 
company made excellent progress in putting the pieces in 
place to create a uniquely positioned global enterprise fully 
capable of capitalizing on the opportunities before us in our two 
major business segments dedicated to reducing air pollution 
and improving the efficiency of energy facilities.

* * * *

Fuel Tech’s revenues for the year totaled a record $81.1 million, 
but this represented only a small increase from the previous 
record level of $80.3 million in 2007. net income was $3.6 million, 
or $0.15 per diluted share, compared with $7.2 million, or $0.29 
per diluted share, in 2007. A major contributor to the reduction 
in profits, despite slightly higher revenues, was the cost for the 
record number of Fuel cheM® demonstration programs  
in the united States, India and china. Such expenditures are 
necessary to build the customer base for enhanced future 
profitability, but they had an impact on our bottom line in 2008.

Also impacting our financial results was the dramatic reduction 
in orders for our APc business sector. This was largely caused 
by two consequential factors that occurred in the second half 
of the year. On July 11, 2008, the u.S. District of columbia 
court of Appeals issued a decision that vacated the 
environmental Protection Agency’s (ePA) clean Air Interstate 
Rule (cAIR), a landmark rule that specified targets and time-
tables for nitrogen Oxide (nOx) reduction across the eastern 
half of the country. This unanticipated court action generated 
much regulatory uncertainty for utilities subject to cAIR. In 
the face of such uncertainty, many utilities delayed decisions 
regarding capital projects as long as possible. Then the world-
wide financial crisis hit and utilities were faced with tight capital 
markets and reduced cash flows. This resulted in the deferral 
of almost all capital projects not absolutely required by law. 
Our end-of-year APc backlog fell to a low $9 million level.

As 2008 drew to a close, we saw the first glimmers of relief 
from these regulatory and economic hurdles. On December 
23, 2008, the same court of Appeals unexpectedly agreed to 
reinstate cAIR on a temporary basis until the ePA can correct 
the legal issues previously identified with the rule. As a result, 
cAIR went into effect on January 1, 2009, as originally scheduled, 
eliminating much near-term uncertainty. In fact, because of 
the year-round nOx control requirements now mandated by 
cAIR, we have experienced a surge in inquiries and quotation 
activity from cAIR-affected utilities for our expanded suite of 
nOx technologies. On the economic front, unprecedented 
efforts to stimulate the world’s major economies have been set 
in motion. noteworthy is the massive financial stimulus plan 
being undertaken in china. consistent with that nation’s most 
recent five-year economic plan, targeted areas of investment 
include environmental protection and energy efficiency.  
Our fully staffed Beijing office is equipped to pursue such 
opportunities, as appropriate.

2008 was certainly not without its successes. Our Fuel cheM 
segment enjoyed another banner year, having achieved record 
revenues of $36.7 million and been awarded a record 15  
demonstration orders, 13 of which were on coal-fired units. A 
number of these orders were prompted by our clients’ needs 
for enhanced fuel flexibility and improved energy efficiency, 
particularly as financial pressures mounted to reduce overall 
fuel costs. We are particularly pleased to have registered a 
number of Fuel cheM “firsts” during 2008, each of which 
strengthens our market presence while representing potentially 
important stepping stones to future growth.

Perhaps of greatest significance were the first two Fuel 
cheM demonstrations awarded in china, home to the world’s 
largest fleet of coal-fired power plants. These demonstrations, 
secured under a teaming agreement with ITOchu hong Kong 
ltd., were associated with a large coal-fired unit and a small 
coal-fired cogeneration boiler designed to produce both  
electricity and steam. We also recorded our first demonstration 
in India, the world’s third largest coal consumer. The demon-
stration programs in china and India included among their 
objectives tangible improvements in efficiency and the ability 
to burn cheaper, more problematic coals. These are important 
goals for these coal importing nations which, collectively, are 
expected to account for some 70% of all future growth in global 

letter to Stockholders
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coal demand. Fuel Tech is making the necessary investments 
in these marketplaces to capitalize on these promising 
opportunities.

In the united States, we received our very first demonstration 
for a lignite-fired unit. lignite is the lowest rank coal based on 
heating value and can be found in all of the world’s major coal-
producing basins. The uneven quality of many lignite seams 
creates challenging operating issues, which we believe can be 
readily managed with our robust TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace 
Injection™ technology.

We also maintained our momentum in china by securing APc 
orders for nOxOuT® Selective non-catalytic Reduction (SncR) 
and nOxOuT ulTRA® systems and by being selected to  
participate in a feasibility study by the liaoning environmental 
Protection Bureau. This study, designed to control toxic air 
pollutants and improve small boiler operating efficiency,  
will utilize the company’s combined nOxOuT SncR and TIFI 
technologies for the very first time.

* * * *

In many ways, 2008 represents a watershed year for our 
company. Through a combination of strategic acquisitions, 
third-party technology licensing and new product development, 
Fuel Tech has significantly broadened and strengthened its 
already versatile product line by adding several critical new 

pieces to its product platform, positioning itself as the pre-
eminent, multi-faceted solution provider to utility and industrial 
customers worldwide.

Foremost among these initiatives were the acquisitions of  
substantially all of the assets of Tackticks, llc, FlowTack, llc 
and Advanced combustion Technology, Inc. (AcT). These 
transactions were funded largely with cash on hand, a  
testament to the strong cash generating capabilities of our 
business model. consideration for the AcT transaction was 
approximately $22 million plus performance-based contingent 
payments, while the Tackticks and FlowTack transactions were 
based on a total combined consideration of $4 million. Taken 
together, these initiatives extend Fuel Tech’s know-how and 
suite of technologies from the burner to the stack, offering 
clients one-stop shopping for their nOx control needs while 
further differentiating us from our competition.

In particular, the AcT transaction enhances Fuel Tech’s  ability 
to provide expertise worldwide in the areas of advanced com-
bustion technologies, specifically combustion optimization, 
low and ultra-low nOx burners and overfire air systems. These 
capabilities are typically deployed as a first line of attack in 
achieving required nOx reduction levels. For those clients 
requiring enhanced nOx reduction, the addition of AcT’s patented 
heRT™ high energy Reagent Technology™ system is also 
available, as is Fuel Tech’s existing suite of post-combustion 
nOx control technologies.

Douglas G. Bailey, Deputy chairman; Ralph e. Bailey, executive chairman; 
John F. norris Jr., President and ceO
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We believe these new capabilities are not only well suited for 
markets here in the united States, but also in eastern europe 
and the Asia-Pacific Rim, where many countries are just 
beginning to implement nOx reduction measures, and  
combustion modification techniques are likely to play a key 
role. In nations with advanced nOx reduction requirements, 
new burners and combustion modification initiatives may be 
required on units already outfitted with Selective catalytic 
Reduction (ScR) systems undergoing fuel switches or experi-
encing changed combustion conditions. equally important, our 
newly acquired product lines can be bundled with Fuel Tech’s 
nOxOuT cAScADe® system to provide extremely high levels 
of nOx reduction at a fraction of the cost of competing capital-
intensive ScR systems. This competitive advantage has 
become even more pronounced during this period of tight 
credit markets.

Our ability to sell nOxOuT cAScADe systems has also been 
enhanced by the Tackticks/FlowTack transaction as the former 
President of Tackticks, Volker Rummenhohl, is now a member 
of our management team. Volker is an internationally recognized 
expert in utilizing catalysts to reduce nOx via catalyst-based 
ScR systems and his knowledge should help us market our 
nOxOuT cAScADe offering, which integrates a single layer of 
catalyst into the SncR process. This transaction also 
strengthens our modeling capabilities, enabling us to construct 
physical scale models to help improve the performance of key 
power plant systems. Already, we have enjoyed the first  
technological offshoot from this initiative with the development 
of a new product line, namely the “mini-ScR” system,  
a highly compact, catalyst-containing system designed for  
significant nOx reduction in small industrial applications and 
microturbines. To date, we have sold two mini-ScRs into this 
rapidly developing market.

We have also filled an important niche in our product portfolio 
by signing an exclusive licensing agreement to sell flue gas 
conditioning systems incorporating the licensor’s technology 
for utility applications in all geographies outside the united 
States and canada. These systems improve the efficiency of 
ash particulate collectors and are most applicable where the 
use of high resistivity and low-sulfur coal is prevalent, such as 
in china and India.

* * * *

The AcT and Tackticks/FlowTack transactions have infused 
the company with a solid core of professionals with the requisite 
skills and experience to help us respond more rapidly to an 

ever-changing global marketplace. In connection with these 
asset acquisitions, the following officer appointments have 
been made: Peter D. Marx, the former President of AcT, was 
named Senior Vice President, Advanced combustion 
Technologies, and Robert W. Pickering and charles e. Trippel, 
formerly principals of AcT, were each named Vice President, 
Business Development. Volker Rummenhohl, the former 
President of Tackticks, was named Vice President, catalyst 
Technologies. In addition, William e. cummings, Jr., previously 
Vice President, Sales for Fuel Tech, was promoted to Senior 
Vice President, Air Pollution control Sales.

The company also appointed a new chief Financial Officer and 
General counsel. John P. Graham joined Fuel Tech in April 
2008 and was named Senior Vice President, cFO and Treasurer 
in June, replacing Vincent J. Arnone, who resigned these 
positions for personal reasons. During his tenure at Fuel Tech, 
Vince was a key operational and strategic contributor to the 
growth of the company and we all wish him the very best in his 
future endeavors. Albert G. Grigonis, formerly Assistant 
General counsel, was elected Vice President, General counsel 
and Secretary in December 2008, replacing charles W. 
Grinnell. For over 20 years, charlie has been a mainstay of 
Fuel Tech, helping to guide the company during a period of 
tremendous growth and expansion. Although charlie will  
not be opining on day-to-day issues, his wise counsel will be 
available as a continuing Director of Fuel Tech.

* * * *

With the recent addition of new technologies, new products 
and new management, we believe we have put the pieces  
in place to fundamentally strengthen our company and its 
prospects, while helping to secure a bright future. We look  
forward to updating you on our progress.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and employees of Fuel 
Tech, I wish to thank you for your continuing support.

Sincerely,

John F. norris Jr.
President and chief executive Officer

March 5, 2009

With the recent addition of new technologies, new products and new management, we 
believe we have put the pieces in place to fundamentally strengthen our company and its 
prospects, while helping to secure a bright future. 



The acquisitions of substantially all of the assets of Advanced 
combustion Technologies (AcT), Tackticks and FlowTack have 
transformed Fuel Tech into a formidable presence in both the 
combustion modification and Selective catalytic Reduction 
(ScR) ends of the nitrogen oxide (nOx) reduction market. Our 
newly acquired expertise not only provides complementary 
technology options for our customers, but also strengthens 
our ability to compete globally as these capabilities flow 
through the organization to new geographies, such as china, 
where there is a growing need for the full spectrum of our 
products and services.

With the AcT transaction, Fuel Tech has gained expertise  
in designing, engineering and installing highly efficient,  
cost-effective systems for combustion modification and post-
combustion nOx control. combustion modification reduces 
the formation of nOx by altering the 
combustion process, typically by 
upgrading existing burners to low 
nOx burners; replacing existing low 
nOx burners with new ultra low nOx 
burners; and/or installing overfire air 
(OFA) systems. low nOx burners 
reduce nOx formation by utilizing fuel 
and air to stage combustion inside the 
furnace. OFA systems further reduce 
nOx formation by diverting air from 
the burner zone to the upper furnace 
for enhanced combustion staging.

combustion modification can be used 
either on a stand-alone basis or in 
conjunction with post-combustion 
nOx control techniques, such as the AcT-developed heRT™ 
high energy Reagent Technology™ system or the company’s 
nOxOuT® Selective non-catalytic Reduction (SncR) or 
nOxOuT cAScADe® systems. The ability to layer these com-
plementary technologies can yield overall nOx reductions as 
high as 85%*, making our bundled nOx control systems 
extremely competitive with traditional ScR systems.

The Tackticks transaction provides Fuel Tech with new  
capabilities in ScR system design and catalyst management.  
These cATlife® services include such services as start-up and 

maintenance support, Ammonia Injection Grid (AIG) design and 
tuning, reactor inspections, operating data evaluation, catalyst 
consumption planning, and the optimization of process design, 
performance and catalyst selection.

FlowTack provides the company with modeling skills critical  
in the design of power plant systems for which proper flow 
distribution and mixing are important for performance, such as 
flue gas desulfurization scrubbers, electrostatic precipitators, 
air heaters, exhaust stacks, and carbon injection systems for 
mercury removal. Such models take the form of physical 
experimental models, which involve construction of scale 
models through which fluids are tested, and computational 
fluid dynamics models, which simulate fluid flow. FlowTack 
also designs flow corrective devices, such as turning vanes, 
ash screens, static mixers and its patent-pending Graduated 

Straightening Grid (GSG), which was 
highly successful in its first opera-
tional deployment on an ScR project 
early in 2009.

In addition to the aforementioned 
acquisitions, Fuel Tech signed an 
exclusive licensing agreement with 
FGc corporation, enabling the 
company to sell flue gas conditioning 
systems incorporating the licensor’s 
technology for utility applications in 
all geographies outside the united 
States and canada. These systems, 
which help fill an important niche in 
our product slate, improve the effi-
ciency of ash particulate collectors 

(also known as electrostatic precipitators) at far lower capital 
cost than competing systems such as fabric filter technology. 
Demand for these flue gas conditioning systems is most 
applicable in regions where the use of high resistivity and 
low-sulfur coal is prevalent, such as china, India, eastern 
europe, Russia, Mexico, South America and South Africa.

Fuel Tech’s air pollution control (APc) technologies, including 
the heRT system, are installed worldwide on over 550  
combustion units, including utility, industrial and municipal  
solid waste applications. To help our customers improve air 

The Air Pollution control (APc) technology segment dramatically expanded its product 
portfolio with the strategic acquisitions of substantially all of the assets of Tackticks, llc 
and FlowTack, llc in 2008 and Advanced combustion Technologies, Inc. early in 2009. 
These initiatives significantly enhance Fuel Tech’s ability to sell nOxOuT cAScADe®  
systems, provide the company with a major presence in the combustion modification market, 
and expand our selective non-catalytic post-combustion nOx control offerings.
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Air Pollution control Technology Segment

This ultra low nOx burner enhances Fuel Tech’s ability 
to reduce nOx emissions via combustion modification.
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quality and satisfy environmental protection objectives, the 
company offers a suite of innovative clean energy technologies, 
focusing on the reduction of nOx emissions. The company’s 
portfolio of nOx reduction technologies is versatile, flexible 
and unique and can be deployed in a cost-effective manner on 
combustion units burning a variety of fuels, including coal, fuel 
oil, natural gas, municipal waste and biomass, while meeting 
both unit-specific and/or total emission control objectives.

In addition to nOx reduction made possible through combustion 
modifications, cATlife services, and ScR flow design and 
modeling capabilities, the company’s portfolio of nOx reduction 
technologies includes:

•   The urea-based NOxOUT and HERT systems. These Selective 
non-catalytic Reduction (SncR) approaches underpin the 
company’s various nOx control technologies. Good for both 
new and retrofit applications at costs ranging from $5-$20 
per kilowatt, this technology can be deployed either on a 
stand-alone basis, to achieve nOx reductions ranging from 
25%-50%*, or in conjunction with complementary technolo-
gies, such as combustion modification, Rich Reagent 
Injection (RRI) and nOxOuT cAScADe, for nOx reduction as 
high as 85%*.

•   The RRI process, which entails  the  injection of urea  into a 
lower furnace, usually on cyclone type boilers, for a combined 
SncR/RRI nOx reduction of 40%-60%* at costs ranging 
from $7-$22 per kilowatt. RRI technology is licensed from 
Reaction engineering International and electric Power 
Research Institute.

•   The nOxOuT cAScADe process, also known as hybrid 
ScR/SncR, is a multi-stage system integrating a special 
urea-based SncR process with a compact ScR module for 
nOx reduction up to 85%*. hybrid systems offer a number of 
advantages over full-scale ScR systems, including lower 
capital cost and reduced space requirements. With a capital 
cost ranging from $30-$75 per kilowatt, the proprietary 
nOxOuT cAScADe approach has become increasingly 
attractive versus ScR systems, which have capital costs 
exceeding $300 per kilowatt. In addition, nOxOuT cAScADe 
systems offer operational advantages over ScR systems 
when utilizing high-ash coals, which are prevalent in china 
and India.

•   The NOxOUT ULTRA® process, which provides for the safe 
and cost-effective on-site conversion of urea to ammonia for 
use as a reagent in the ScR process, eliminating the  
hazards associated with the transport, storage and handling 
of ammonia.

During 2008 Fuel Tech commercialized the “mini-ScR” system, 
a new technology designed to meet the growing needs of 
smaller-scale nOx emitters. This approach was developed for 
a glass manufacturer in a matter of weeks, representing the 
first technology offshoot from the Tackticks/FlowTack acquisi-
tion. Mini-ScRs are highly compact, catalyst-based systems 
designed for significant nOx reduction in small industrial 
applications and microturbines. They are ideally suited for  
satisfying ever-expanding market demand for compact, cost-
effective nOx control, with california and Texas representing 
two major markets for this new product line.

Fuel Tech’s APc orders totaled approximately $21 million during 
2008. This depressed level of activity reflects the regulatory 
uncertainty generated in the wake of the July 2008 decision by 
the u.S. court of Appeals to vacate the clean Air Interstate 
Rule (cAIR) and the slowdown in capital spending by utility and 
industrial customers in light of weakening global economic 
conditions and tightening credit markets.

More than half of the received orders originated from china, 
where interest remains strong for our suite of technologies. Of 
particular note was an order for a nOxOuT SncR system, to 
be installed in a plant owned by china huaneng Group, the 
largest coal-based power generator in china. A second order 
specifies the installation of multiple nOxOuT ulTRA systems, 
reaffirming the importance of safe urea-to-ammonia conversion 
technology in china’s densely populated regions.

Also in china, Fuel Tech was selected for a feasibility study to 
assess the technical and financial performance of its combined 
nOxOuT SncR and TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ 
technologies for reducing toxic air pollutants, such as nOx, 
sulfur dioxide and sulfur trioxide, while improving the operating 
efficiency of small coal-fired district heating units. With over 
500,000 such units in china, this represents a very attractive 
market for our innovative approach, which would combine APc 
and Fuel cheM® technologies for the first time.

elsewhere, APc orders were received in the united States, 
Italy, Korea and Guadeloupe. The domestic orders include two 
mini-ScRs and an ulTRA system for use at a leading 
university.

early in 2009, Fuel Tech expanded its north American presence 
by securing its first APc order in canada—a nOxOuT SncR 
system.

*Actual nOx emission reduction results will vary depending on the combustion 
unit design, specific operating characteristics and the starting nOx emission 
levels of the combustion unit involved.
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Modeling of a wet flue gas desulfurization system is used to maximize SO2 removal while minimizing construction costs and energy 
consumption. First, the system design is optimized using a CFD model, which visualizes scrubbing effectiveness by droplet color and 

size (shown here as a virtual overlay). The optimized solution is then validated using the 1/12th scale experimental model pictured.
>
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Global Opportunities
Opportunities for our Air Pollution Control and FUEL CHEM® applications continue to grow, as nations 
around the globe make fuel efficiency and environmental care the primary components of government-
sponsored economic initiatives and pollution control regulations.

9
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Fuel cheM® Technology Segment
The Fuel cheM® technology segment concluded its most successful year ever with record-
breaking financial and sales performances. Moreover, the groundwork has been laid to 
help ensure future success by concluding key licensing and chemical supply agreements 
and penetrating target-rich global markets, such as china and India.

The Fuel cheM® technology segment revolves around the 
application of specialty chemicals utilizing patented TIFI™ 
Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology to improve the 
efficiency, reliability, cleanliness and environmental status of 
boilers of all types, including electric utility, industrial, waste-
to-energy, university and district heating units.

Fuel cheM programs are custom designed for combustion 
units of all sizes, utilizing sophisticated computational fluid 
dynamics models and proprietary visualization software. 
These enabling technologies are used to develop chemical 
injection strategies for attacking a wide variety of performance-
hindering conditions, such as slagging, fouling, corrosion, 
opacity and acid plume, as well as the formation of sulfur  
trioxide, ammonium bisulfate, particulate matter (PM2.5),  
carbon dioxide (cO2), nitrogen oxide and unburned carbon in fly 
ash. Importantly, Fuel cheM programs also increase the 
operational stability of boiler downstream processes, including 
air preheaters, electrostatic precipitators, flue gas desulfurization 
units and selective catalytic reduction systems, as demonstrated 
by reduced pressure drops across the entire boiler system, 
saving parasitic energy consumption.

The ability to improve a combustion unit’s efficiency—as 
broadly measured by the reduction in fuel required to generate 
a given unit of energy (kWh)—is one of the hallmarks of a Fuel 
cheM program. nations heavily dependent on coal for electricity 
generation, such as china and India, have great incentive to 
introduce new approaches to their power generation sectors 
that help reduce coal consumption, improve heat rate and other-
wise provide gains in boiler efficiency. Fuel Tech’s TIFI technology 
has demonstrated its ability to accomplish all of these supply 
side objectives. An ancillary benefit of our program is a reduction 
in the rate of cO2 production, an item of growing global interest, 
particularly in china.

Fuel cheM programs also promote fuel flexibility by enabling 
plant operators to expand the universe of available fuel input 
options for their combustion units. This capability assumed 
even greater significance during 2008 in light of certain key 
industry trends:

•   In overseas markets experiencing  relatively  strong growth 
in electricity demand, most notably china and India, power 

generators often had no choice but to use all commercially 
available coal supplies, including those indigenous and 
imported varieties of lower quality. Such fuels can present 
significant boiler challenges—challenges that can be  
successfully addressed with a Fuel cheM solution.

•   Domestically, price spreads, especially during the first half 
of 2008, were seen to have widened between slag-inducing 
coals, such as those mined in the Powder River Basin (PRB) 
and Illinois Basin (IB), and coals of higher quality, such as 
those typically found in central and northern Appalachia. 
This growing divergence provided further economic incentive 
for utilities either to switch to PRB or IB coals or conduct test 
burns of such coals, thereby offering new opportunities for 
Fuel Tech’s slag-inhibiting technology. Additionally, IB coals, 
which are high in sulfur, have become more operationally 
acceptable at plants that have installed scrubbers designed 
for SO2 removal. Because such coals typically create SO3 
issues when used in conjunction with catalyst-based nOx 
reduction systems, a technical solution such as that afforded 
by a Fuel cheM program is often required. PRB coals are 
also on the cusp of expanding their reach into new markets, 
with test burns currently underway in china. Fuel Tech is 
closely monitoring this new market development.

During 2008, the Fuel cheM segment produced record revenues 
and operating income, as well as a record 15 demonstration 
orders (13 of which were coal units), including 11 from new 
Fuel cheM clients. A tabulation of commercial applications 
and coal-fired demonstrations as of year-end 2008 is provided 
at the top of page 12.

Among the more significant developments during 2008 were 
the company’s first demonstrations in china and India:

•   In china in 2008, Fuel Tech pursued Fuel cheM opportunities 
in accordance with a teaming agreement with ITOchu hong 
Kong ltd., a subsidiary of ITOchu corporation. under terms 
of the agreement, whose current exclusivity provisions 
expire March 31, 2009, Fuel Tech and ITOchu share in the 
financial outcome of Fuel cheM initiatives in china. During 
2008, two demonstrations were awarded in china, one for a 
large, coal-fired boiler and the other for a small, coal-fired 
cogeneration boiler producing both electricity and steam. 

In this CFD model visualization of a split tangentially-fired furnace, the purple contour identifies 
the temperature zone where ash is still molten and likely to adhere to heat transfer surfaces. 

This information is used to optimize a chemical injection strategy for slag inhibition.
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Both demonstrations were designed to show a number of 
operational benefits, including: fuel and heat efficiency 
improvements, enhanced fuel options, increased power 
generation and, in the case of the cogeneration boiler, increased 
steam generation. In addition, important environmental 
benefits, such as reductions in toxic air emissions and in the 
rate of cO2 production, are anticipated from these initiatives.

•   In India, the company was awarded a demonstration on a large 
coal-fired boiler by one of the country’s largest independent 
power producers. The treated unit burns higher heating 
value coals imported from Indonesia, which often create 
slagging problems and reduce boiler efficiency due to their 
lower ash fusion temperatures.

Also noteworthy was the first demonstration program for a 
combustion unit burning lignite, the lowest rank coal based on 
heating value. In the united States, lignite is located principally 
in Montana, Texas, louisiana and north Dakota while, overseas, 
this fuel can be found in all major coal-producing regions.  

As such, a successful demonstration offers the potential for 
attractive new revenue streams.

Fuel Tech’s ability to secure new business in 2009 and beyond 
was enhanced by the signing of key licensing and chemical 
supply agreements, as follows:

•   A license implementation agreement with an initial term of 
five years was signed with energy Marine Services, S.A. de c.V. 
(eMS), a private Mexican corporation. under the agreement, 
eMS was granted an exclusive license in Mexico to implement 
TIFI programs in exchange for license royalty payments.

•   To  help  ensure  the  availability  of  a  stable  supply  of  high-
quality magnesium hydroxide for the company’s expanding 
u.S. and canadian Fuel cheM programs, a long-term 
agreement was signed with Martin Marietta Magnesia 
Specialties, llc. The contract commenced January 1, 2009, 
coinciding with the December 31, 2008 expiration of the 
previous agreement.

Fuel cheM® customer units (Status as of December 31, 2008)

commercial Demonstration(3)

Coal-Burning Units

Domestic Available u.S. units

large (> 500 MW) ................................................ 266 12 3

Medium (> 100, <500MW) .................................... 545 7 5

Small (<100 MW) .................................................. 701 7 1

Totals 1,512 26 9

International

large (> 500 MW) ......................................................................................................... 0 2

Medium (> 100, <500MW) ............................................................................................. 2 1

Small (<100 MW) ........................................................................................................... 0 1

Totals 2 4

Total Coal-Burning Units 28 13

Non-Coal-Burning Units

Domestic ....................................................................................................................... 23 0

International .................................................................................................................. 32 0

Total Non-Coal-Burning Units(1) 55 0

96 Total Customer Units(2) 83 13

(1) Total 2008 annual revenue for non-coal-burning units was approximately $5 million.
(2) updated customer unit counts are available at www.ftek.com. 
(3) Demonstrations are designed to prove the Fuel cheM technology on customer units prior to transitioning into commercial status.
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Selected financial data are presented below as of the end of and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended 
December 31, 2008. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” included elsewhere in this report and the schedules thereto.

For the years ended December 31

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Revenues $ 81,074 $ 80,297 $ 75,115 $ 52,928 $ 30,832
Cost of sales 44,345 42,471 38,429 27,118 16,566
Selling, general and administrative and  
 other costs and expenses 30,112 27,087 25,953 18,655 14,130
Operating income 6,617 10,739 10,733 7,155 136
Net income 3,602 7,243 6,826 7,588 1,572

Basic income per Common Share $ 0.15 $ 0.33 $ 0.32 $ 0.38 $ 0.08
Diluted income per Common Share $ 0.15 $ 0.29 $ 0.28 $ 0.33 $ 0.07
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 23,608,000 22,280,000 21,491,000 20,043,000 19,517,000
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 24,590,000 24,720,000 24,187,000 23,066,000 22,155,000

December 31

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Working capital $ 44,346 $ 45,143 $ 38,715 $ 19,590 $ 11,292
Total assets 88,873 87,214 65,660 44,075 23,828
Long-term obligations 1,389 1,255 500 448 505
Total liabilities 15,056 23,975 18,005 14,939 4,873
Stockholders’ equity (1) 73,817 63,239 47,655 29,136 18,955

Notes:
(1)  Stockholders’ equity includes principal amount of nil coupon non-redeemable perpetual loan notes. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Stock Performance Graph

The following line graph compares (i) Fuel Tech’s total return to stockholders per share of Common Stock for the five years 
ended December 31, 2008 to that of (ii) the NASDAQ Composite Index, and (iii) the WilderHill Clean Energy Index for the period 
December 31, 2003 through December 31, 2008.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(in thousands of dollars)

Background

Fuel Tech, Inc. (“Fuel Tech”) has two broad technology segments 
that provide advanced engineering solutions to meet the pollution 
control, efficiency improvement and operational optimization 
needs of energy-related facilities worldwide. They are as follows:

Air Pollution Control Technologies
The Air Pollution Control (APC) technology segment focuses 
primarily on nitrogen oxide (“NOx”) emission reductions in flue 
gas from boilers, incinerators, furnaces and other stationary 
combustion sources and includes the NOxOUT®, NOxOUT 
CASCADE®, GSG, NOxOUT ULTRA® and NOxOUT-SCR® pro-
cesses. Fuel Tech distributes its products through its direct 
sales force, licensees and agents.

FUEL CHEM® Technologies
The FUEL CHEM® technology segment uses chemical pro-
cesses, including TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ tech-
nology, to control slagging, fouling and corrosion, as well as 
the formation of sulfur trioxide, ammonium bisulfate, particu-
late matter (PM2.5), carbon dioxide, NOx and unburned carbon 
in fly ash in furnaces and boilers. Fuel Tech sells its FUEL 
CHEM program through its direct sales force and agents to 
industrial and utility power-generation facilities. At December 
31, 2008, FUEL CHEM programs were operating on over 95 
combustion units around the world, treating a wide variety of 
solid and liquid fuels, including coal, heavy oil, biomass and 
municipal waste. The FUEL CHEM program improves the effi-
ciency, reliability and environmental status of plants operating 
in the electric utility, industrial, pulp and paper, waste-to-
energy, university and district heating markets and offers 
numerous operational, financial and environmental benefits to 
owners of boilers,  furnaces and other combustion units. 

The key market dynamic for both technology segments is 
the continued use of fossil fuels, especially coal, as the principal 
fuel source for global electricity production. Coal accounts for 
approximately 50% of all U.S. electricity generation. Coal’s share 
of global electricity generation is forecast to be approximately 
45% by 2030. Major coal consumers include China, the United 
States and India. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which require us to make estimates 
and assumptions. We believe that of our accounting policies 
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements), the 
 following involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity  
and are deemed critical. We routinely discuss our critical 
accounting policies with the Company’s Audit Committee. 

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from the sales of chemical products are recorded 
when title transfers, either at the point of shipment or at the point 
of destination, depending on the contract with the customer.

Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of 
accounting for equipment construction and license contracts 
that are sold within the APC technology segment. Under the 
percentage of completion method, revenues are recognized as 
work is performed based on the relationship between actual 
construction costs incurred and total estimated costs at com-
pletion. Revisions in completion estimates and contract values 
in the period in which the facts giving rise to the revisions 
become known can influence the timing of when revenues  
are recognized under the percentage of completion method of 
accounting. Provisions are made for estimated losses on 
uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are 
determined. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, 
Fuel Tech had no construction contracts in progress that were 
identified as loss contracts. 

Fuel Tech’s APC contracts are typically six to twelve months 
in length. A typical contract will have three or four critical 
operational measurements that, when achieved, serve as the 
basis for us to invoice the customer via progress billings. At a 
minimum, these measurements will include the generation of 
engineering drawings, the shipment of equipment and the 
completion of a system performance test. 

As part of most of its contractual project agreements, 
Fuel Tech will agree to customer-specific acceptance criteria 
that relate to the operational performance of the system that  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)

is being sold. These criteria are determined based on mathe-
matical modeling that is performed by Fuel Tech personnel, 
which is based on operational inputs that are provided by the 
customer. The customer will warrant that these operational 
inputs are accurate as they are specified in the binding con-
tractual agreement. Further, the customer is solely responsible 
for the accuracy of the operating condition information; all 
performance guarantees and equipment warranties granted 
by us are void if the operating condition information is inaccu-
rate or is not met. 

Accounts receivable includes unbilled receivables, 
 representing revenues recognized in excess of billings on 
uncompleted contracts under the percentage of completion 
method of accounting. At December 31, 2008 and December 
31, 2007, unbilled receivables were approximately $5,552 and 
$16,813, respectively. Billings in excess of costs and estimated 
earnings on uncompleted contracts were $1,223 and $821  
at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. 
Such amounts are included in other accrued liabilities on the 
 consolidated balance sheet. 

Fuel Tech has installed over 450 units with its APC tech-
nology and has never failed to meet a performance guarantee 
when the customer has provided the required operating con-
ditions for the project. As part of the project implementation 
process, we perform system start-up and optimization  
services that effectively serve as a test of actual project per-
formance. We believe that this test, combined with the accuracy 
of the modeling that is performed, enables revenue to be rec-
ognized prior to the receipt of formal customer acceptance. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
In order to control and monitor the credit risk associated with 
our customer base, we review the credit worthiness of cus-
tomers on a recurring basis. Factors influencing the level of 
scrutiny include the level of business the customer has with 
Fuel Tech, the customer’s payment history and the customer’s 
financial stability. Representatives of our management team 
review all past due accounts on a weekly basis to assess 
 collectibility. At the end of each reporting period, the allowance 
for doubtful accounts balance is reviewed relative to manage-
ment’s collectibility assessment and is adjusted if deemed 
necessary. Our historical credit loss has been insignificant.

Assessment of Potential Impairments of Goodwill  
and Intangible Assets
Effective January 1, 2002, Fuel Tech adopted Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142). Under the guidance of this state-
ment, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no 
longer amortized, but rather are required to be reviewed annually 
or more frequently if indicators arise, for impairment. The eval-
uation of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of 
the business to the carrying value. Fuel Tech uses a dis counted 
cash flow (DCF) model to determine the current fair value of its 
two reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and 
estimates are involved in the application of the DCF model to 
forecast operating cash flows, including markets and market 
share, sales volumes and prices, costs to produce and working 
capital changes. Management considers historical experience 
and all available information at the time the fair values of its 
reporting units are estimated. However, actual fair values that 
could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from 
those used to evaluate the impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include 
customer lists and relationships, covenants not to compete, 
patent assets and acquired technologies, for impairment on a 
recurring basis or when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
In the event the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash 
flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carry-
ing amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess 
of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. 
Management considers historical experience and all available 
information at the time the estimates of future cash flows are 
made, however, the actual cash values that could be realized 
may differ from those that are estimated.

Based upon the nature of the goodwill and other intangible 
assets recorded on the balance sheets as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007, the Company believes that, in order for an impairment 
to occur, a series of material prolonged negative economic 
events would have to occur. These events would most likely be 
seen in economic indicators such as suppressed consolidated 
revenues or Common Stock price, reduced cash flows or declin-
ing APC order backlog. 
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Valuation Allowance for Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets represent deductible temporary differences 
and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation 
allowance is recognized if it is more likely than not that some 
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. At the end 
of each reporting period, Fuel Tech reviews the realizability of 
the deferred tax assets. As part of this review, we consider if 
there are taxable temporary differences that could generate 
taxable income in the future, if there is the ability to carry back 
the net operating losses or credits, if there is a projection of 
future taxable income, and if there are any tax planning strate-
gies that can be readily implemented.

Stock-Based Compensation
Fuel Tech recognizes compensation expense for employee 
equity awards ratably over the requisite service period of the 
award. We utilize the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to 
estimate the fair value of awards. Determining the fair value of 
stock options using the Black-Scholes model requires judgment, 
including estimates for (1) risk-free interest rate—an estimate 
based on the yield of zero–coupon treasury securities with a 
maturity equal to the expected life of the option; (2) expected 
volatility—an estimate based on the historical volatility of Fuel 
Tech’s Common Stock for a period equal to the expected life of 
the option; and (3) expected life of the option—an estimate based 
on historical experience including the effect of employee termi-
nations. If any of these assumptions differ significantly from 
actual, stock-based compensation expense could be impacted.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 
157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157), which defines fair 
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in gen-
erally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures 
about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any 
new fair value measurements, but provides guidance on how to 
measure fair value by providing a fair value hierarchy used  
to classify the source of the information. This statement is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. 
On February 14, 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position Financial 
Accounting Standard (FSP FAS) No. 157-1 “Application of FASB 
Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement 13 and Other Accounting 

Pronouncements That Address Fair Value Measurements for 
Purposes of Lease Classification or Measure ment Under 
Statement 13” (SFAS 157-1) that amends SFAS 157 to exclude 
its application for purposes of lease classification or measure-
ment under SFAS 13. On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued 
FSP FAS No. 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No.  
157” (FSP 157-2) that amends SFAS 157 to delay the effective 
date for all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, 
except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in 
the financial statements on a recurring basis to fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company adopted the 
required provisions of SFAS 157-1 effective January 1, 2008 
and there was no material effect on its consolidated financial 
statements. The Company has adopted FSP 157-2 to delay the 
adoption effects related to non-financial assets and does not 
anticipate there will be a material effect on its consolidated 
financial statements. In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP 
157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset in a 
Market That Is Not Active.” The FSP was effective upon issu-
ance, including periods for which financial statements have 
not been issued. The FSP clarified the application of SFAS 157 
in an inactive market and provided an illustrative example to 
demon strate how the fair value of a financial asset is deter-
mined when the market for that financial asset is inactive. The 
adoption of this FSP FAS 157-3 did not have a material impact 
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 
2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141R). SFAS 141R estab-
lishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes 
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets 
acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest 
in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also 
establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation 
of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. 
SFAS 141R is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company is cur-
rently evaluating the potential impact of adoption of SFAS 141R 
on its consolidated financial statements. However, the Company  
does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141R to have a material 
effect on its consolidated financial statements. 

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 
142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets” 
(“FSP No. FAS 142-3”). FSP No. FAS 142-3 requires companies 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)
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estimating the useful life of a recognized intangible asset to 
consider their historical experience in renewing or extending 
similar arrangements or, in the absence of historical experi-
ence, to consider assumptions that market participants would 
use about renewal or extension as adjusted for SFAS 142’s, 
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” entity-specific factors. 
FSP No. FAS 142-3 will be effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating 
the potential impact of adoption of FSP No. FAS 142-3 on its 
consolidated financial statements. However, the Company 
does not expect the adoption of FSP No. FAS 142-3 to have a 
material effect on its consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles” (SFAS 162). SFAS 162 identi-
fies the sources of accounting principles and the framework 
for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial 
statements that are presented in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles. SFAS 162 becomes effective 
60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, 
“The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles.” The Company does not expect 
that the adoption of SFAS 162 to have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

2008 Versus 2007

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were 
$81,074 and $80,297, respectively. The year-over-year increase 
of $777, or 1%, was driven by a 13% increase in revenues from 
the FUEL CHEM technology segment that were largely offset 
by a modest revenue decline in the APC technology segment.

Revenues for the APC technology segment were $44,393 
for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of $3,357, or 
7%, versus 2007. The global financial crisis and the vacatur of 
the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) in July 2008 (subsequently 
remanded in December 2008) had a negative effect on segment 
revenues and APC order backlog. This segment is well positioned 
to capitalize on CAIR—the next phase of increasingly stringent 
U.S. air quality standards—which is effective January 1, 2009, and 
the Clean Air Visibility Rule (CAVR), which is effective January 1, 
2013. Thousands of utility and industrial boilers will be impacted 

by these regulations and Fuel Tech’s technologies will serve as  
an important element in enabling utility and industrial boiler unit 
owners to attain compliance. During 2008, Fuel Tech announced 
new contracts valued at approximately $21,000.

Revenues for the FUEL CHEM technology segment were 
$36,681 for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 
$4,134, or 13%, versus 2007. This segment’s growth is indica-
tive of the continued market acceptance of Fuel Tech’s patented 
TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection technology, particularly on 
coal-fired units, which represent the largest market opportu-
nity for the technology, both domestically and abroad. During 
2008, Fuel Tech added 15 new units to its customer base,  
13 of which were coal-fired units, the largest annual total  
in the Company’s history. Historically, most demonstrations 
convert into commercial accounts.

Cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2007 was $44,345 and $42,471, respectively. Cost of sales as a 
percentage of revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008 
and 2007 was 54% and 53%, respectively. The 2008 cost of sales 
percentage for the APC technology segment increased to 55% 
from 54% in 2007. The increase is attributable to the mix of 
project business. The 2008 cost of sales percentage for the FUEL 
CHEM technology segment increased to 55% in 2008 from 51% 
in 2007. The increase is due to costs associated with demon-
stration periods and other related start-up activities for the 
record number of incremental units noted above,  especially 
for the demonstrations in India and China, where the Company 
bore a significantly higher portion of the costs versus typical 
demonstrations in the United States. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $28,012 and $24,950, 
respectively. The $3,062 increase over 2007 is  principally attrib-
utable to the following:

•   Fuel  Tech  recorded  $5,815  in  stock  compensation 
expense in 2008 in accordance with SFAS 123(R), as dis-
cussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial  statements. 
This amount represented a $1,024 increase over 2007, 
attributable to stock option awards to Directors and 
certain Fuel Tech employees in 2008 and the on-going 
expense recognition related to stock options awarded 
in prior years.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)



18 Fuel Tech 2008 Annual Report

•   Fuel Tech  invested approximately $2,000  in personnel 
and other costs, including expenses associated with  
the start-up of the Company’s Beijing, China office,  
in the areas of Engineering, Sales, Marketing and 
Administration to ensure the Company’s financial and 
operational infrastructure are able to accommodate 
anticipated future growth.

•   Partially offsetting this unfavorable variance was a reduc-
tion in annual incentive expenses of $1,500 as the minimum 
income threshold for the year ended December 31, 2008 
was not met and, thus, no 2008 bonus payments were 
made under the Company’s incentive plan.

Research and development expenses were $2,100 and 
$2,137 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. Fuel Tech has established a more focused approach 
in the pursuit of commercial applications for its technologies 
outside of its traditional markets, and in the development and 
analysis of new technologies that could represent incremental 
market opportunities.

Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2008 
decreased by $893 versus 2007 due to decreases in the interest 
rates paid by institutions with whom the Company’s investments 
were located. Further, Fuel Tech recorded interest expense of 
$135 in 2008 related specifically to a short-term credit facility 
that was used to support the start-up of Fuel Tech’s office in 
Beijing, China. Finally, the change in other income/(expense) is 
due largely to the impact of foreign exchange rates related to 
balances denominated in foreign currencies.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech recorded 
tax expense of $3,305. For the year ended December 31, 2007, 
Fuel Tech recorded tax expense of $5,187, which predominantly 
represented deferred tax expense related to taxable income 
recognized in 2007.

2007 Versus 2006

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were 
$80,297 and $75,115, respectively. The year-over-year increase 
of $5,182, or 7%, predominantly reflects moderate increases in 
both technology segments.

Revenues for the APC technology segment were $47,750 
for the year ended December 31, 2007, an increase of $1,296, 
or 3%, versus 2006. This segment is positioned well to capitalize 
on the next phase of increasingly stringent U.S. air quality 
standards. With the compliance for the EPA’s SIP Call regulation 
beginning to wind down, utilities and industrial facilities across 
the country are planning for compliance with the Clean Air 
Interstate Rule (CAIR) and the Clean Air Visibility Rule (CAVR), 
which take effect in 2009 and 2013, respectively. Thousands of 
utility and industrial boilers will be impacted by these regula-
tions and Fuel Tech’s technologies will serve as an important 
element in enabling utility and industrial boiler unit owners to 
attain compliance. In 2007, Fuel Tech announced new con-
tracts valued at $60 million, which exceeded the previous 
annual record by almost 40%.

Revenues for the FUEL CHEM technology segment were 
$32,547 in 2007, an increase of $3,886, or 14%, over 2006. This 
segment’s growth is indicative of the continued market accep-
tance of Fuel Tech’s patented TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection 
technology, particularly on coal-fired units, which represent 
the largest market opportunity for the technology, both domes-
tically and abroad. In 2007, Fuel Tech added 10 new coal-fired 
units to its customer base, the largest annual total in the 
Company’s history.

Cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 
2006 was $42,471 and $38,429, respectively. Cost of sales as  
a percentage of revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007 
and 2006 was 53% and 51%, respectively. The cost of sales per-
centage for 2007 for the APC technology segment decreased to 
54% from 57% in 2006. The decrease is attributable to the mix  
of project business. For the FUEL CHEM technology segment, 
the cost of sales percentage increased to 51% in 2007 from 
42% in 2006. The increase is due to  start-up costs related to 
the incremental units noted above, without the realization of 
related revenues as only two of the 10 new units contributed 
significant revenues during 2007 due to  customer-related 
delays impacting the timing of startup.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $24,950 and $23,901, 
respectively. The $1,049 increase over 2006 is principally 
attributable to the following:

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)
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•   Fuel Tech recorded $4,791 in stock compensation expense 
in 2007 in accordance with Statement 123(R), as discussed 
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. This 
amount represented a $2,986 increase over 2006 attrib-
utable to the awarding of stock options to all Fuel Tech 
employees in December 2006 and to an increase in the 
fair value of the options granted, which was driven by 
an increase in the price of Fuel Tech’s Common Stock.

•   Partially offsetting this unfavorable variance was a reduc-
tion in revenue-related expenses of $2,100 as Fuel Tech 
aligned the focus of all employees under a common 
incentive plan in 2007.

Research and development expenses were $2,137 and 
$2,052 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. Fuel Tech has established a more focused approach in 
the pursuit of commercial applications for its technologies 
outside of its traditional markets, and in the development and 
analysis of new technologies that could represent incremental 
market opportunities.

Interest income increased by $623 over 2006 reflecting 
higher average cash and short-term investment balances. 
Further, Fuel Tech recorded interest expense of $24 in 2007 
related specifically to a short-term credit facility that was used 
to support the start-up of Fuel Tech’s new office in Beijing, 
China. Finally, the moderate increase in other income is due 
largely to foreign exchange gains related to balances denomi-
nated in foreign currencies.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech recorded 
tax expense of $5,187, which predominantly represents deferred 
tax expense related to taxable income recognized in 2007.  
For the year ended December 31, 2006, Fuel Tech recorded tax 
expense of $4,942, also representing deferred tax expense 
related to taxable income.

Liquidity and Sources of Capital

At December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had cash and cash equiva-
lents and short-term investments of $28,149 and working 
capital of $44,346 versus $32,471 and $45,143 at December 
31, 2007, respectively. Operating activities provided $8,047 of 
cash for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to 
the favorable operating results of the business segments. 

Investing activities used cash of $11,769 for the year ended 
December 31, 2008, primarily for expenditures related to the 
Company’s new corporate headquarters building to support 
and enhance the operations of the business of $5,200, the 
acquisition funding for substantially all of the assets of 
Tackticks, LLC and FlowTack, LLC of $3,928 and the remainder 
used principally for equipment related to the FUEL CHEM 
technology segment. Capital expenditures, which typically 
consist of equipment related to FUEL CHEM demonstration 
programs or commercial installations, are expected to be 
funded primarily from cash flows from operations. Other than 
the outfitting of the new corporate headquarters building in 
2008, the Company has historically incurred a nominal amount 
of maintenance capital expenditures. 

Fuel Tech generated cash from financing activities in the 
amount of $1,377. Of this amount, $619 represents proceeds 
derived from the exercise price of options and warrants exer-
cised in 2008, while $548 represents the excess tax benefits 
realized from the exercise of stock options in 2008.

Fuel Tech has a domestic $25.0 million revolving credit 
facility expiring July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured and 
bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 75 basis points. Fuel 
Tech can use this facility for cash advances and standby  letters 
of credit. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding 
standby letters of credit and bank guarantees, predominantly 
to customers, totaling approximately $5,865 in connection with 
contracts in process. Fuel Tech is committed to reimbursing 
the issuing bank for any payments made by the bank under  
these instruments. At December 31, 2008, there were no cash 
borrowings under the revolving credit facility and approxi-
mately $19,135 was available. Management has met with the 
Company’s lending institutions and, during the course of those 
meetings, was not made aware of any information indicating 
that they will not be able to perform their obligations for any 
letters of credit or guarantees issued, nor be unable to supply 
funds to Fuel Tech if the Company chooses to borrow funds 
under its two revolving credit facilities.

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, 
Ltd. (Beijing Fuel Tech), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fuel 
Tech, entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during 
the third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately 
$4.8 million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)
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unsecured and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s 
Bank of China (PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use this 
facility for cash advances and bank guarantees. At December 
31, 2008, Beijing Fuel Tech had borrowings outstanding in the 
amount of $2,188.

Interest payments in the amount of $135 and $24 were 
made during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. No payments were made during the year ended 
December 31, 2006.

In the opinion of management, Fuel Tech’s expected  
near-term revenue growth will be driven by the timing of 
 penetration of the coal-fired utility marketplace via utilization 
of its TIFI technology, by utility and industrial entities’ adher-
ence to the NOx reduction requirements of the various 
domestic environmental regulations, and by the expansion of 
both business segments in non-U.S. geographies. Fuel Tech 
expects its liquidity requirements to be met by the operating 
results generated from these activities. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In its normal course of business, Fuel Tech enters into agree-
ments that obligate Fuel Tech to make future payments. The 
operating lease obligations noted below are primarily related 
to supporting the operations of the business.

Payments due by period  
in thousands of dollars

Contractual Cash  
 Obligations Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Operating Leases $1,720 $  663 $ 527 $468 $ 62

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, 
Ltd. (Beijing Fuel Tech), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fuel 
Tech, entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during 
the third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately 
$4.8 million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is  
unsecured and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s  

Bank of China (PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use 
this facility for cash advances and bank guarantees. At 
December 31, 2008, Beijing Fuel Tech had borrowings out-
standing in the amount $2,188 as noted in the table below.

Commitment expiration by period  
in thousands of dollars

Commercial  
 Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Short-term debt $2,188 $2,188 $ — $ — $ —

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, Fuel 
Tech incurred interest expense related to the Beijing Fuel  
Tech short-term debt of $135 and $24, respectively. The 
Company cannot estimate the fiscal 2009 interest expense for 
this short-term debt as the debt may be repaid at any time 
during fiscal 2009.

Fuel Tech, in the normal course of business, uses bank 
performance guarantees and letters of credit in support of 
construction contracts with customers as follows:

•   in  support  of  the  warranty  period  defined  in  the  
contract; or 

•   in support of the system performance criteria that are 
defined in the contract.

In addition, Fuel Tech uses letters of credit as security for 
other obligations as needed in the normal course of business. As 
of December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had outstanding bank performance 
guarantees and letters of credit as noted in the table below: 

Commitment expiration by period  
in thousands of dollars

Commercial  
 Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Standby letters of 
 credit and bank  
 guarantees $5,865 $ 1,794 $ 3,388 $ 683 $ —

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)
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The following table summarizes Fuel Tech’s FIN 48 obli-
gations as of December 31, 2008. Please refer to Note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this document for a 
description of our FIN 48 obligations.

Commitment expiration by period  
in thousands of dollars

Commercial  
 Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

FIN 48  
 Obligations $  713 $ — $ — $ — $ 713

Off-Balance-Sheet Transactions

There were no off-balance-sheet transactions during the  
two-year period ended December 31, 2008.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” as 
defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended, which are made pursuant to the safe harbor pro-
visions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 
and reflect Fuel Tech’s current expectations regarding future 
growth, results of operations, cash flows, performance and 
business prospects, and opportunities, as well as assumptions 
made by, and information currently available to, our manage-
ment. Fuel Tech has tried to identify forward-looking 
statements by using words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” 
“plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,” “will,” and similar expres-
sions, but these words are not the exclusive means of identifying 
forward-looking statements. These statements are based on 
information currently available to Fuel Tech and are subject to 
various risks, uncertainties, and other factors, including, but 
not limited to, those discussed in Fuel Tech’s  Annual Report on 

Form 10-K in Item 1A under the caption “Risk Factors,” which 
could cause Fuel Tech’s actual growth, results of operations, 
financial condition, cash flows, performance and business 
prospects and opportunities to differ materially from those 
expressed in, or implied by, these statements. Fuel Tech 
undertakes no obligation to update such factors or to publicly 
announce the results of any of the forward-looking statements 
contained herein to reflect future events, developments, or 
changed circumstances or for any other reason. Investors are 
cautioned that all forward-looking statements involve risks 
and uncertainties, including those detailed in Fuel Tech’s fil-
ings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Subsequent Events

On January 5, 2009, Fuel Tech completed its acquisition of sub-
stantially all of the assets of Advanced Combustion Technology, 
Inc. and is currently in the process of allocating the purchase 
price to the fair market values of acquired tangible and intangible 
assets and assumed liabilities as of January 5, 2009.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures  
About Market Risk

Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not 
enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into foreign cur-
rency option contracts to manage this risk due to the immaterial 
nature of the transactions involved.

Fuel Tech is also exposed to changes in interest rates 
 primarily due to its long-term debt arrangement (refer to Note 8 
to the consolidated financial statements). A hypothetical 100 
basis point adverse move in interest rates along the entire 
interest rate yield curve would not have a materially adverse 
effect on interest expense during the upcoming year ended 
December 31, 2009.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
(continued)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per-share data)

December 31

2008 2007

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 28,149 $ 30,473
 Short-term investments — 1,998
 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $80 and $150, respectively 23,365 31,856
 Inventories 1,014 186
 Deferred income taxes 767 1,589
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,718 1,761

Total current assets 58,013 67,863

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $12,588 and $10,091, respectively 17,515 11,302
Goodwill 5,158 2,119
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,504 and $1,320, respectively 2,543 1,088
Deferred income taxes 2,412 2,552
Other assets 3,232 2,290

Total assets $ 88,873 $ 87,214

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Short-term debt $ 2,188 $ 2,051
 Accounts payable 8,196 13,632
 Accrued liabilities:
  Employee compensation 510 2,304
  Other accrued liabilities 2,773 4,733

Total current liabilities 13,667 22,720

Other liabilities 1,389 1,255

Total liabilities 15,056 23,975

Stockholders’ equity:
  Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 24,110,967 and  

 22,410,064 shares issued, respectively 241 224
 Additional paid-in capital 118,588 111,459
 Accumulated deficit (45,280) (48,882)
 Accumulated other comprehensive income 187 166
 Nil coupon perpetual loan notes 81 272

Total stockholders’ equity 73,817 63,239

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 88,873 $ 87,214 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per-share data)

For the years ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues $ 81,074 $ 80,297 $ 75,115
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of sales 44,345 42,471 38,429
 Selling, general and administrative 28,012 24,950 23,901
 Research and development 2,100 2,137 2,052

74,457 69,558 64,382

Operating income 6,617 10,739 10,733

Interest expense (135) (24) —
Interest income 741 1,634 1,011
Other income (expense) (226) 81 24

Income before taxes 6,997 12,430 11,768
Income taxes (3,395) (5,187) (4,942)

Net income $ 3,602 $ 7,243 $ 6,826

Net income per Common Share:
 Basic $ 0.15 $ 0.33 $ 0.32
 Diluted $ 0.15 $ 0.29 $ 0.28
Weighted-average number of Common Shares outstanding:
 Basic 23,608,000 22,280,000 21,491,000
 Diluted 24,590,000 24,720,000 24,187,000

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands of dollars or thousand of shares, as appropriate)

Common Stock 

Shares Amount

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Nil Coupon 
Perpetual 

Loan Notes Total

Balance at January 1, 2006 20,424 $ 204 $  91,559 $ (62,870) $   (39) $  282 $ 29,136

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 6,826 6,826
  Foreign currency translation adjustments 118 118

Comprehensive income 6,944
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,662 17 3,809 3,826
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual loan notes  
 into Common Shares 1 5 (5) —
Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 5,944 5,944
Stock compensation expense 1,805 1,805

Balance at December 31, 2006 22,087 $ 221 $ 103,122 $ (56,044) $  79 $  277 $ 47,655

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 7,243 7,243
 Foreign currency translation adjustments 87 87

Comprehensive income 7,330
Exercise of stock options and warrants 322 3 909 912
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual loan notes 
 into Common Shares 1 5 (5) —
Effect of FIN 48 adoption (81) (81)
Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 1,482 1,482
Stock compensation expense 4,791 4,791
Issuance of deferred shares of stock 1,150 1,150

Balance at December 31, 2007 22,410 $ 224 $ 111,459 $ (48,882) $ 166 $  272 $ 63,239

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 3,602 3,602
 Foreign currency translation adjustments 21 21

Comprehensive income 3,623
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,657 17 602 619
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual loan notes 
 into Common Shares 44 191 (191) —
Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 548 548
Stock compensation expense 5,815 5,815
Issuance of deferred shares of stock 73 73
Reclassification of liability award (100) (100)

Balance at December 31, 2008 24,111 $ 241 $118,588 $(45,280) $187 $  81 $ 73,817

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of dollars)

For the years ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Operating Activities
Net income $ 3,602 $ 7,243 $ 6,826
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation 2,810 2,353 1,961
 Amortization 184 115 118
 Effect of FIN 48 adoption — (81) —
 Loss on equipment disposals/impaired assets 35 18 —
 Deferred income tax 962 1,716 (1,235)
 Stock compensation expense 5,815 4,791 1,805
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
  Accounts receivable 8,491 (15,132) (3,491)
  Inventories (828) 17 155
  Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other noncurrent assets (3,899) (906) (1,046)
  Accounts payable (5,436) 6,000 1,139
  Accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities (3,720) (2,081) 1,927
  Other 31 46 —

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,047 4,099 8,159

Investing Activities
 Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 1,998 6,002 —
 Purchases of short-term investments — — (2,000)
 Purchases of property, equipment and patents (9,839) (9,715) (2,017)
 Acquisition of businesses (3,928) — —

Net cash used in investing activities (11,769) (3,713) (4,017)

Financing Activities
 Proceeds from short-term borrowings 137 2,051 —
 Issuance of deferred shares 73 1,150 —
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 619 912 3,826
 Excess tax benefit for stock-based compensation 548 1,482 5,944

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,377 5,595 9,770

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 21 87 118

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,324) 6,068 14,030
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,473 24,405 10,375

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 28,149 $ 30,473 $ 24,405

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
 Cash paid for:
  Interest $ 135 $ 24 $ —
  Income taxes paid $ 5,905 $ 173 $ 217

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per-share data)

1.  Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
Fuel Tech is a company that provides advanced engineering 
solutions for the optimization of combustion systems in utility 
and industrial applications. Fuel Tech’s primary focus is on  
the worldwide marketing and sale of its NOx reduction tech-
nologies as well as its FUEL CHEM® program. The Company’s 
NOx reduc tion technologies reduce nitrogen oxide emissions 
from boilers, furnaces and other stationary combustion 
sources. Our FUEL CHEM program is based on proprietary 
TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology in the unique 
application of specialty chemicals to improve the efficiency, 
reliability and environmental status of combustion units by 
controlling slagging, fouling, corrosion, opacity and acid 
plume, as well as the formation of sulfur trioxide, ammonium 
bisulfate, particulate matter (PM2.5), carbon dioxide, NOx and 
unburned carbon in fly ash via the addition of chemicals into 
the boiler. Our business is materially dependent on the con-
tinued existence and enforcement of air quality regulations, 
particularly in the United States. We have expended significant 
resources in the research and development of new technolo-
gies in building our proprietary portfolio of air pollution con-
trol, fuel and boiler treatment chemi cals, computer modeling 
and advanced visualization technologies. 

International revenues were $12,641, $12,763 and $17,487 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. These amounts represented 16%, 16% and 23% of Fuel 
Tech’s total revenues for the respective periods of time. Foreign 
currency changes did not have a material impact on the calcula-
tion of these percentages. Fuel Tech has foreign offices in Beijing, 
China and in Gallarate, Italy.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
Fuel Tech and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany 
transactions have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
The Company uses estimates in accounting for, among other 
items, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
income tax provisions and warranty expenses. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair value due to 
their short-term nature. The carrying amount of our short-term 
debt, revolving line of credit and notes approximates fair value 
because the majority of the amounts outstanding accrue interest 
at variable rates.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
Fuel Tech includes cash and investments having an original 
maturity of three months or less at the time of acquisition in 
cash and cash equivalents. Short-term investments consist of 
highly liquid investments having an original maturity of greater 
than three months which are recorded at cost, and have been 
classified as available for sale securities. Fuel Tech has never 
incurred realized or unrealized holding gains or losses on these 
securities. Income resulting from short-term investments is 
recorded as interest income.

Foreign Currency Risk Management
Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not 
enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into foreign 
currency option contracts to manage this risk due to the imma-
terial nature of the transactions involved.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable includes unbilled receivables, representing 
costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncom-
pleted contracts under the percentage of completion method. At 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, unbilled receivables were approxi-
mately $5,552 and $16,813, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
In order to control and monitor the credit risk associated with 
our customer base, we review the credit worthiness of custom-
ers on a recurring basis. Factors influencing the level of scrutiny 
include the level of business the customer has with Fuel Tech, 
the customer’s payment history and the customer’s financial 
stability. Representatives of our management team review all 
past due accounts on a weekly basis to assess collectibility. At 
the end of each reporting period, the allowance for doubtful 
accounts balance is reviewed relative to management’s collecti-
bility assessment and is adjusted if deemed necessary. Our  
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historical credit loss has been insignificant. The table below sets 
forth the components of the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
for the years ended December 31.

Year
Balance at 
January 1

Charged to 
costs and 
expenses

(Deductions)/
Other

Balance at 
December 31

2006 $150 — — $150
2007 $150 — — $150
2008 $150 — $(70) $ 80

Translation of Foreign Currency
Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are 
translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at year 
end. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange 
rates prevailing during the year. Gains or losses on foreign 
currency trans actions and the related tax effects are reflected 
in net income. The resulting translation adjustments are 
included in stockholders’ equity as part of accumulated com-
prehensive income. 

Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity 
resulting from transactions from non-owner sources. Compre-
hensive income differs from net income due to the effects of 
foreign currency translation.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 
Research and development projects funded by customer con-
tracts are reported as part of cost of goods sold. Internally 
funded research and development expenses are reported as 
operating expenses.

Product/System Warranty
Fuel Tech typically warrants its air pollution control products 
and systems against defects in design, materials, and workman-
ship for one to two years. A provision for estimated future costs 
relating to warranty expense is recorded when the products/
systems become commercially operational.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amor-
tized, but are reviewed annually or more frequently if indicators 
arise, for impairment. The evaluation of impairment involves 
comparing the current fair value of the business to the carrying 
value. Fuel Tech uses a discounted cash flow (DCF) model to 
determine the current fair value of its two reporting units. A 
number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved 

in the application of the DCF model to forecast operating cash 
flows, including markets and market share, sales volumes  
and prices, costs to produce and working capital changes. 
Manage ment considers historical experience and all available 
information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are 
estimated. How ever, actual fair values that could be realized in 
an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate 
the impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech allocates goodwill to reporting units based  
on the relative excess of fair value over carrying value of the 
reporting units. Fair value is determined as noted above. The 
ratio of each reporting unit’s excess of fair value over  carrying 
value, to the total excess of fair value over carrying value,  
is used as the basis for the allocation of the goodwill balance. 
Our fair value measurement test, performed annually as of 
October 1, revealed no indications of impairment.

Included with other intangible assets on the consolidated 
balance sheet are third-party costs related to the development 
of patents. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the net patent 
asset balance was $249 and $199, respectively. The third-party 
costs capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2008 
and 2007 were $60 and $53, respectively. Third-party costs are 
comprised of legal fees that relate to the review and preparation 
of patent disclosures and filing fees incurred to present the 
patents to the required governing body.

Fuel Tech’s intellectual property has been the primary 
building block for the Air Pollution Control and FUEL CHEM 
technology segments. The patents are essential to the genera-
tion of revenue for our businesses and are essential to protect 
us from competition in the markets in which it serves. These 
costs are being amortized on the straight-line method over a 
period of 10 years from the date of patent issuance. Patent 
maintenance fees are charged to operations as incurred. 

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include 
customer lists and relationships, covenants not to compete, 
patent assets and acquired technologies, for impairment on a 
recurring basis or when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
In the event the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash 
flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carry-
ing amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess 
of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. 
Management considers historical experience and all available 
information at the time the estimates of future cash flows are 
made, however, the actual cash values that could be realized 
may differ from those that are estimated. For the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the impact of impairment 
losses was $0, $7 and $0, respectively. Such amounts are 
recorded in the “Research and development” line item in the 
consolidated statements of income.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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The table below shows the amortization period and other 
intangible asset cost by intangible asset as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, and the accumulated amortization and net 
intangible asset value in total for all other intangible assets. 

Description of  
 Other Intangible

Amortization 
Period 2008 2007

Customer list 3–15 years $ 1,548 $ 1,198
Patent asset 10 years 1,170 1,110
Covenant not to compete 5–6 years 336 100
Technologies 3–8 years 603 —
Miscellaneous 3–7 years 390 —

Total cost $ 4,047 $ 2,408
Less accumulated amortization (1,504) (1,320)

Total net intangible asset value $ 2,543 $ 1,088

The estimated amortization expense related to Fuel Tech’s 
intangible assets is expected to approximate $300 per year for 
the four-year period ending December 31, 2012, and $200 for the 
year ending December 31, 2013.

Property and Equipment
Equipment is stated at historical cost. Provisions for depreciation 
are computed by the straight-line method, using estimated useful 
lives. The table below shows the depreciable life and cost by asset 
class as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the accumulated 
depreciation and net book value in total for all classes of assets. 

Description of Property  
 and Equipment

Depreciable  
Life

2008  
Cost

2007  
Cost

Land $  1,440 $  1,440
Building 39 years 4,857 4,857
Leasehold Improvements 3–39 years 4,719 —
Field equipment 3–4 years 13,714 10,405
Computer equipment  
 and software 2–3 years 3,527 2,996
Furniture and fixtures 3–10 years 1,823 1,673
Vehicles 3 years 22 22

Total cost $ 30,102 $ 21,393
Less accumulated  
 depreciation (12,587) (10,091)

Total net book value $ 17,515 $ 11,302

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from the sales of chemical products are recorded 
when title transfers, either at the point of shipment or at the point 
of destination, depending on the contract with the customer.

Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of 
accounting for equipment construction and license contracts 
that are sold within the Air Pollution Control technology seg-
ment. Under the percentage of completion method, revenues 
are recognized as work is performed based on the relationship 
between actual construction costs incurred and total estimated 
costs at completion. Revisions in completion estimates and 
contract values in the period in which the facts giving rise to 
the revisions become known can influence the timing of when 
revenues are recognized under the percentage of completion 
method of accounting. Provisions are made for estimated losses 
on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses 
are determined. As of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 
2007, Fuel Tech had no construction contracts in progress that 
were identified as loss contracts. 

Distribution Costs
Fuel Tech classifies shipping and handling costs in cost of sales 
in the consolidated statement of income.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
the differences between the financial statement and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the 
year in which the differences are expected to reverse. 

At the end of each reporting period, for financial state-
ment purposes, Fuel Tech reviews the realizability of the 
deferred tax assets. As part of this review, the Company will 
consider if there are taxable temporary differences that could 
generate taxable income in the future, if there is the ability to 
carryback the net operating losses or credits, if there is a pro-
jection of future taxable income, and if there are any tax 
planning strategies that can be readily implemented. The table 
below sets forth the components of the Valuation Allowance 
for Deferred Tax Assets for the years ended December 31.

Year
Balance at 
January 1

Charged to 
costs and 
expenses

(Deductions)/
Other

Balance at 
December 31

2006 $ 45 $215 — $260
2007 $260 — — $260
2008 $260 — — $260

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Stock-Based Compensation
Fuel Tech has a stock-based employee compensation plan, 
referred to as the Fuel Tech, Inc. Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan), 
under which awards may be granted to participants in the form 
of Non-Qualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock 
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Performance Awards, 
Bonuses or other forms of share-based or non-share-based 
awards or combinations thereof. Participants in the Incentive 
Plan may be Fuel Tech’s directors, officers, employees, consul-
tants or advisors (except consultants or advisors in capital-raising 
transactions) as the directors determine are key to the success 
of our business. The amount of shares that may be issued or 
reserved for awards to participants under a 2004 amendment 
to the Incentive Plan is 12.5% of outstanding shares calculated 
on a diluted basis. In 2008, 2007 and 2006, 757,250, 310,500 
and 1,094,000 options, respectively, were granted to employ-
ees and directors. At December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had 471,712 
stock options available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Effective January 1, 2006, Fuel Tech adopted the fair  
value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123(R), 
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123R) using the modified- 
prospective transition method. Under that transition method, 
compensation cost recognized for the year ended December 31, 
2008 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based pay-
ments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, 
based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance 
with the original provisions of Statement 123, and (b) compen-
sation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent 
to January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated 
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Accordingly, 
results for prior periods have not been restated.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per share excludes the dilutive effects of stock 
options and stock warrants and of the nil coupon non-redeemable 
convertible unsecured loan notes (see Note 5). Diluted earn-
ings per share includes the dilutive effect of the nil coupon 
non-redeemable convertible unsecured loan notes and of  
 in-the-money stock options and stock warrants. The table at 
the top of the adjoining column sets forth the weighted- 
average shares used at December 31 in calculating earnings 
per share:

2008 2007 2006

Basic weighted-average  
 shares 23,608,000 22,280,000 21,491,000
Conversion of unsecured  
 loan notes 43,000 45,000 46,000
Unexercised options  
 and warrants 939,000 2,395,000 2,650,000

Diluted weighted-average 
 shares 24,590,000 24,720,000 24,187,000

2. Construction Contracts in Progress

The status of contracts in progress as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007 is as follows:

2008 2007

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 18,220 $ 17,050
Estimated earnings 14,882 15,247

Earned revenue 33,102 32,296
Less billings to date (28,773) (16,303)

Total $ 4,330 $ 15,993

Classified as follows:
  Costs and estimated earnings in excess  

 of billings on uncompleted contracts $ 5,552 $ 16,813

  Billings in excess of costs and estimated  
 earnings on uncompleted contracts (1,223) (821)

Total $ 4,330 $ 15,993

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 
uncompleted contracts are included in accounts receivable  
on the consolidated balance sheet, while billings in excess of 
costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts  
are included in other accrued liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, Fuel Tech had no 
 construction contracts in progress that were identified as  
loss contracts. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. Taxation

The components of income (loss) before taxes for the years 
ended December 31 are as follows:

Origin of income (loss)  
 before taxes 2008 2007 2006

United States $ 8,353 $ 13,242 $ 13,279
Foreign (1,356) (812) (1,511)

Income before taxes $ 6,997 $ 12,430 $ 11,768

Significant components of income tax expense for the 
years ended December 31 are as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Current:
 Federal $ 1,395 $ 1,401 $ 144
 State 411 588 29
 Other (84) — 60

 Total current $ 1,722 $ 1,989 $ 233
Deferred:
 Federal 1,612 3,183 4,314
 State 61 15 180
  Change in valuation allowance — — 215

 Total deferred 1,673 3,198 4,709

Income tax expense $ 3,395 $ 5,187 $ 4,942

A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes 
calculated at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the 
consolidated income tax benefit in the consolidated statements 
of income for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Provision at the U.S. federal  
 statutory rate $ 2,449 $ 4,351 $ 4,119
State taxes, net of federal benefit 311 405 187
Foreign losses without tax benefit 391 284 588
Research credits (77) (63) (229)
Other 321 210 62
Valuation allowance adjustment — — 215

Income tax expense $ 3,395 $ 5,187 $ 4,942 

The table below depicts the data above on a percentage basis: 

2008 2007 2006

Provision at the U.S. federal  
 statutory rate 35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 4.4 % 3.3 % 1.6 %
Foreign losses without tax benefit 5.6 % 2.3 % 5.0 %
Research credits (1.1)% (.5)% (1.9)%
Other 4.6 % 1.6 % .5 %
Valuation allowance adjustment — % — % 1.8 %

Income tax expense 48.5 % 41.7 % 42.0 %

The deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are 
as follows: 

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets:
   Stock compensation expense $ 4,238 $ 2,306
   Research and development credit 492 1,302
   Equipment — 648
   Alternative minimum tax credit 275 275
   Warranty reserve 101 176
   Accounts receivable 30 57
   Vacation accrual 45 40
   Deferred rent liability 49 33
   Effect of FIN 48 adoption 13 7
   Intangible assets 11 —
   Net operating loss carryforwards 84 —

  Total deferred tax assets 5,338 4,844

Deferred tax liabilities:
   Equipment (975) —
   Prepaid expenses (361) —
   Patents (94) (76)
   Goodwill (469) (367)

  Total deferred tax liabilities (1,899) (443)

Net deferred tax asset  
 before valuation allowance $ 3,349 $ 4,401
Valuation allowances  
 for deferred tax assets (260) (260)

Net deferred tax asset $ 3,179 $ 4,141
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Net deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded as 
 follows within the consolidated balance sheets: 

Current assets $ 767 $ 1,589
Long-term assets 2,412 2,552

Net deferred tax asset $ 3,179 $ 4,141

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, Fuel 
Tech recorded tax benefits from the exercise of stock options 
in the amount of $548 and $1,482, respectively. The amounts 
were recorded as an increase in additional paid-in capital on 
the consolidated balance sheets and as cash from financing 
activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. With 
our adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006, all subsequent 
tax benefits from the exercise of stock options were recorded 
as cash flows from financing activities. 

State and Federal income tax payments during the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $5,905, $173 
and $217, respectively.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation 
of FASB Statement No. 109,” (FIN 48). FIN 48 prescribes a 
comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, 
measure, present and disclose in its financial statements 
uncertain tax positions that it has taken or expects to take on a 
tax return. On January 17, 2007, the FASB affirmed its previous 
decision to make FIN 48 effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2006. Accordingly, Fuel Tech adopted the 
provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. 

Previously, Fuel Tech had accounted for tax contingencies 
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
5, Accounting for Contingencies. As required by FIN 48, which 
clarifies Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, Fuel Tech 
recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only 
after determining that the relevant tax authority would more 
likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax 
positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the 
amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest 
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized 
upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. At the 
adoption date, we applied FIN 48 to all tax positions for which 
the statute of limitations remained open. As a result of the 
implementation of FIN 48, we recognized an increase of 
approximately $86 in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, 
of which $81 was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 
2007 balance of retained earnings.

The following table summarizes Fuel Tech’s unrecognized 
tax benefit activity during 2008:

Description Balance

Balance at January 1, 2008 $ 678
Increases in positions taken in a prior period —
Decreases in positions taken in a prior period —
Increases in positions taken in a current period 35
Decreases in positions taken in a current period —
Decreases due to settlements —
Decreases due to lapse of statute of limitations —

Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 713

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 
2008, including interest and penalties, was $781. This amount 
included $747 of unrecognized tax benefits which, if ultimately 
recognized, will reduce Fuel Tech’s annual effective tax rate. 

Fuel Tech is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal 
jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. Tax 
regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the inter-
pretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require 
significant judgment to apply. With few exceptions, we are no 
longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income 
tax examinations by tax authorities for the years before 2004.

Fuel Tech recognizes interest and penalties accrued related 
to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense for all  periods 
presented. Fuel Tech had accrued approximately $68 for the 
payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2008. 

The management of Fuel Tech periodically estimates the 
probable tax obligations of the Company using historical expe-
rience in tax jurisdictions and informed judgments. There are 
inherent uncertainties related to the interpretation of tax regu-
lations in the jurisdictions in which we transact business. The 
judgments and estimates made at a point in time may change 
based on the outcome of tax audits, as well as changes to or 
further interpretations of regulations. If such changes take 
place, there is a risk that the tax rate may increase or decrease 
in any period. Tax accruals for tax liabilities related to potential 
changes in judgments and estimates for both federal and state 
tax issues are included in current liabilities on the consoli-
dated balance sheet.

At December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had tax losses of $4,035 
available to offset foreign income. The foreign loss carryforwards 
began to expire in 2008 and at December 31, 2008 a valuation 
allowance of $3,699 is recorded against this amount.
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4. Common Shares

At December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had 24,110,967 Common Shares 
issued, with an additional 7,485 shares reserved for issuance 
upon conversion of the nil coupon non-redeemable convertible 
unsecured loan notes (see Note 5) and 2,905,325 shares reserved 
for issuance upon the exercise of stock options, 1,461,700 of which 
are currently exercisable (see Note 6).

5.  Nil Coupon Non-Redeemable Convertible 
Unsecured Loan Notes

At December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, Fuel Tech 
had principal amounts of $81, $272 and $277 of nil coupon 
non-redeemable convertible unsecured perpetual loan notes 
(the “Loan Notes”) outstanding. The Loan Notes are convertible 
at any time into Common Shares at rates of $6.50 or $11.43 per 
share, as appropriate. The Loan Notes bear no interest and have 
no maturity date. They are repayable in the event of Fuel Tech’s 
dissolution and, accordingly, have been classified within stock-
holders’ equity in the accompanying balance sheet. 

In 2008, Loan Notes in the principal amount of $191 were 
converted into 43,845 Common Shares. In 2007 and 2006, Loan 
Notes in the principal amount of $5 and $5, respectively, were 
converted into 769 and 769 Common Shares, respectively.

6. Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants

Fuel Tech has a stock-based employee compensation plan, 
referred to as the Fuel Tech, Inc. Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan), 
under which awards may be granted to participants in the form 
of Non-Qualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock 
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, 
Performance Awards, Bonuses or other forms of share-based 
or non-share-based awards or combinations thereof. Partici-
pants in the Incentive Plan may be Fuel Tech’s directors, officers, 
employees, consultants or advisors (except consultants or 
advisors in capital-raising transactions) as the directors 
 determine are key to the success of Fuel Tech’s business. The 
amount of shares that may be issued or reserved for awards to 
participants under a 2004 amendment to the Incentive Plan  
is 12.5% of outstanding shares calculated on a diluted basis.  
In 2008, 2007 and 2006, 757,000, 311,000 and 1,094,000 options,  

respectively, were granted to employees and directors. At 
December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had 472,000 stock options 
 available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Fuel Tech uses the Black-Scholes options-pricing model 
to estimate the fair value of employee stock options for the 
required pro forma disclosure under Statement 123(R). For the 
year ended December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech recorded stock-based 
compensation expense of $5,815 ($3,882 after tax). The Company 
recorded $4,791 ($3,105 after tax) in stock-based compensation 
expense for the comparable period in 2007.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $11.4 million of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-
based compensation arrangements granted under the 1993 
Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 
four years.

The awards granted under the Incentive Plan have a 
10-year life and they vest as follows: 50% after the second 
anniversary of the award date, 25% after the third anniversary, 
and the final 25% after the fourth anniversary of the award 
date. Fuel Tech calculates stock compensation expense based 
on the grant date fair value of the award and recognizes 
expense on a straight-line basis over the four-year service 
period of the award.

The principal variable assumptions utilized in valuing 
options and the methodology for estimating such model inputs 
include: (1) risk-free interest rate—an estimate based on the 
yield of zero-coupon treasury securities with a maturity equal 
to the expected life of the option; (2) expected volatility—an esti-
mate based on the historical volatility of Fuel Tech’s Common 
Stock for a period equal to the expected life of the option; and 
(3) expected life of the option—an estimate based on historical 
experience including the effect of employee terminations.

Based on the results of the model, the weighted-average 
fair value of the stock options granted during the 12-month 
periods ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, was $9.65, $14.01 and $12.53 per share using the 
following assumptions:

2008 2007 2006

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 2.85% 4.39% 4.64%
Expected volatility 59.3% 57.4% 60.7%
Expected life of option 5.2 years 5.2 years 5.2 years
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The following table presents a summary of Fuel Tech’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended 
December 31:

2008 2007 2006

Number 
of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price
Number 

of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price
Number 

of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,464,325 $ 15.03 2,414,200 $ 13.02 2,799,000 $ 4.29
Granted 757,250 18.05 310,500 25.80 1,094,000 22.06
Exercised (171,125) 3.61 (188,875) 4.83 (1,332,925) 2.88
Expired or forfeited (145,125) 18.69 (71,500) 20.82 (145,875) 5.91

Outstanding at end of year 2,905,325 $ 16.30 2,464,325 $ 15.03 2,414,200 $ 13.02

Exercisable at end of year 1,461,700 $ 12.92 955,825 $ 7.11 711,450 $ 5.22
Weighted-average fair value of  
 options granted during the year $ 9.65 $ 14.01 $ 12.53

The following table provides additional information regarding Fuel Tech’s stock option activity for the 12 months ended 
December 31, 2008:

Number 
of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted- 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding on January 1, 2008 2,464,325 $ 15.03
Granted 757,250 18.05
Exercised (171,125) 3.61 $ 2,106
Expired or forfeited (145,125) 18.69

Outstanding on December 31, 2008 2,905,325 $ 16.30 7.49 years $ 4,044

Exercisable on December 31, 2008 6.44 years $ 3,798

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of  
Exercise Prices 

Number  
of Options 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life

Weighted- 
Average 

Exercise Price
Number  

of Options 

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

$ 1.47–$ 5.51 451,700 4.89 years $ 4.19 446,200 $ 4.17
$ 5.52–$11.03 536,125 6.40 years $ 7.96 380,250 $ 7.56
$11.04–$22.06 792,000 8.57 years $16.19 167,500 $14.09
$22.07–$27.57 1,125,500 8.31 years $25.22 467,750 $25.20 

$ 1.47–$27.57 2,905,325 7.49 years $16.30 1,461,700 $12.92 
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The weighted-average exercise price per non-vested 
stock award at grant date was $17.55 per share for the non-
vested stock awards granted in 2008. Non-vested stock award 
activity for all plans for the 12 months ended December 31, 
2008 was as follows:

Non-Vested 
Stock 

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding on January 1, 2008 1,508,500 $ 11.08
Granted 757,250 9.65
Released (682,000) 10.36
Expired or forfeited (140,125) 10.36

Outstanding on December 31, 2008 1,443,625 $ 10.75

At December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had 1,577,500 stock 
options with exercise prices per share that were not dilutive for 
the purpose of inclusion in the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 
123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects 
of Share-Based Payment Awards, or Staff Position 123(R)-3. 
Fuel Tech has elected to adopt the alternative transition method 
provided in Staff Position 123(R)-3 for calculating the tax effects 
of stock-based compensation pursuant to Statement 123(R). 
The alternative transition method simplifies the calculation of 
the beginning balance of the additional paid-in-capital pool, or 
APIC pool, related to the tax effect of employee stock-based 
compensation. This method also has subsequent impact on 
the APIC pool and the condensed consolidated statements of 
cash flows relating to the tax effects of employee stock-based 
compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of 
Statement 123(R).

In addition to the Incentive Plan, Fuel Tech has a Deferred 
Compensation Plan for Directors (Deferred Plan). This Deferred 
Plan, as originally approved, provided for deferral of Directors’ 
fees in the form of either cash with interest or as “phantom 
stock” units, in either case, however, to be paid out only as cash 
and not as stock at the elected time of payout. In the second 
quarter of 2007, Fuel Tech obtained stockholder approval for 
an amendment to the Deferred Plan to provide that instead of 
phantom stock units paid out only in cash, the deferred stock 
unit compensation may be paid out in shares of Fuel Tech  

Common Stock. Under the guidance of Statement 123(R), this  
plan modification required that Fuel Tech account for awards 
under the plan for the receipt of Fuel Tech Common Stock as 
equity awards as opposed to liability awards. In 2008 and 2007, 
Fuel Tech recorded $73 and $150, respectively, of stock-based 
compensation expense under the Deferred Plan. 

In addition to the above, at December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech had 
1,601,043 warrants outstanding to purchase Common Shares 
at an exercise price of $1.75. As of December 31, 2008, all of 
these warrants had been exercised.

7. Commitments

Operating Leases
Fuel Tech leases office space, autos and certain equipment 
under agreements expiring on various dates through 2014. 
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable oper-
ating leases that have initial or remaining lease terms in 
excess of one year as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Year of Payment Amount

2009 $663
2010 279
2011 249
2012 251
Thereafter 278

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
rent expense approximated $1,300, $852 and $829, respectively.

Fuel Tech has a sublease agreement with American Bailey 
Corporation (ABC) that obligates the lessee to make future 
payments. ABC will reimburse Fuel Tech for its share of lease 
and lease-related expenses under Fuel Tech’s January 29, 2004 
lease of its executive offices in Stamford, Connecticut. Please  
refer to Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for a 
discussion of the relationship between Fuel Tech and ABC. The 
future minimum lease income under this noncancellable 
 sublease as of December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Year of Payment Amount

2009 $81
2010 7
2011 —
2012 —
Thereafter —
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The terms of the three primary lease arrangements are 
as follows:

•   The  Stamford,  Connecticut  building  lease  term,  for 
approxi mately 7,000 square feet, runs from February 1, 
2004 to January 31, 2010. The facility houses certain admin-
i strative functions such as Investor Relations, Benefit Plan 
Administration and certain APC sales functions. 

•   The  Beijing,  China  building  lease  term,  for  approxi-
mately 4,000 square feet, runs from September 1, 2007 
to August 31, 2009. This facility serves as the operating 
headquarters for our Beijing Fuel Tech operation. Fuel 
Tech has the option to extend the lease term at a market 
rate to be agreed upon between Fuel Tech and the lessor. 

•   The Durham, North Carolina building  lease  term,  for 
approximately 16,000 square feet, runs from November 1, 
2005 to April 30, 2014. This facility houses the former 
Tackticks and FlowTack operations. Fuel Tech has no 
option to extend the lease.

In addition to the above, on November 30, 2007, Fuel Tech 
purchased an office building in Warrenville, Illinois, which has 
served as our corporate headquarters since June 23, 2008. Our 
prior headquarters, an 18,000 square foot location in Batavia, 
Illinois, remains under an operating lease until May 31, 2009. 
We have no plans to renew this lease. 

Performance Guarantees
The majority of Fuel Tech’s long-term equipment construction 
contracts contain language guaranteeing that the performance 
of the system that is being sold to the customer will meet 
 specific criteria. On occasion, bank performance guarantees 
and letters of credit are issued to the customer in support of 
the construction contracts as follows:

•   in  support  of  the  warranty  period  defined  in  the  
contract; or 

•   in  support  of  the  system  performance  criteria  that  
are defined in the contract.

As of December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech has outstanding bank 
 performance guarantees and letters of credit in the amount of 
$5,765 in support of equipment construction contracts that 
have not completed their final acceptance test or that are still 
operating under a warranty period. Fuel Tech’s management 
believes that these projects will be successfully completed 
and that there will not be a materially adverse impact on Fuel 
Tech’s operations from these bank performance guarantees 
and letters of credit.

Product Warranties
Fuel Tech issues a standard product warranty with the sale of 
its products to customers. Our recognition of warranty liability 
is based primarily on analyses of warranty claims experience 
in the preceding years. Changes in the warranty liability in 
2008, 2007 and 2006 are summarized below:

2008 2007 2006

Aggregate product warranty liability  
 at beginning of year $ 464 $ 472 $ 247
Net aggregate accruals related  
 to product warranties (45) 88 280
Aggregate reductions for payments (154) (96) (55)

Aggregate product warranty liability  
 at end of year $ 265 $ 464 $ 472

8. Debt Financing

Fuel Tech has a domestic $25.0 million revolving credit facility 
expiring July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured and bears 
interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 75 basis points. The Company 
can use this facility for cash advances and standby letters of 
credit. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were no out-
standing borrowings on this facility. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding 
standby letters of credit and bank guarantees, predominantly 
to customers, totaling approximately $5,865 in connection with 
contracts in process. Fuel Tech is committed to reimbursing 
the issuing bank for any payments made by the bank under 
these instruments. At December 31, 2008, there were no cash 
borrowings under the revolving credit facility and approxi-
mately $19,135 was available.

During 2008 and 2007, under the domestic $25.0 million 
facility, the Company requested and received a waiver to enable 
us to exceed the capital spending covenant specified in the facility 
agreement to accommodate our purchase of land and building 
for our new corporate headquarters and the subsequent build 
out and furnishing of the premises. During 2008, the Company 
also requested and received a waiver to enable us to exceed 
the allowable acquisition spending covenant specified in the 
facility agreement to accommodate our strategic acquisitions.

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, 
Ltd. (Beijing Fuel Tech), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fuel Tech, 
entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during the 
third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately $4.8 
million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured 
and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s Bank of  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)



36 Fuel Tech 2008 Annual Report

China (PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use this facility 
for cash advances and bank guarantees. At December 31, 2008, 
Beijing Fuel Tech had borrowings outstanding in the amount  
of $2,188.

Interest payments in the amount of $135 and $24 were 
made during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. No payments were made during the year ended 
December 31, 2006.

9. Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had a 4.5% common stock 
ownership interest in Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc. (CDT), 
which is being accounted for using the cost method. Fuel Tech 
is precluded from selling its interest in CDT except pursuant to 
a registration statement, or in a broker/dealer transaction within 
the limitations of Rule 144 of the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (SEC), or in an exempt private placement within the 
limitations of Rule 144 of the SEC. Fuel Tech’s investment in CDT, 
whose shares are publicly traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market 
and the London Stock Exchange, had a market value of $1,004 at 
December 31, 2008. Fuel Tech also owns 5,000 warrants to pur-
chase CDT common stock. The warrants have an exercise price 
of $10.00 and can be exercised on or before November 14, 2010. 

On August 3, 1995, Fuel Tech signed a Management and 
Services Agreement with CDT. According to the agreement, 
CDT is to reimburse Fuel Tech for management, services and 
admin is trative expenses incurred by Fuel Tech on behalf of 
CDT. Additionally, Fuel Tech charges CDT an additional 3% of 
such costs annually. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 
2007 and 2006, $72, $72 and $71, respectively, was charged to 
CDT as a management fee.

Pursuant to an assignment agreement of certain technology 
to CDT, Fuel Tech is due royalties from CDT of 2.5% of CDT’s 
annual revenue from sales of CDT’s Platinum Fuel Catalyst, 
commencing in 1998. The royalty obligation expired in 2008. 
Over the life of the royalty agreement, Fuel Tech received 
approximately $61 in royalties. 

Persons now or formerly associated with American Bailey 
Corporation (ABC) currently own approximately 25% of Fuel 
Tech’s Common Shares. On April 30, 1998, Fuel Tech entered 
into an agreement with ABC for it to provide certain manage-
ment and consulting services to Fuel Tech. Effective January 1, 
2004, this agreement was revised whereby ABC reimburses 
Fuel Tech for services that certain employees of Fuel Tech pro-
vide to ABC. In addition, ABC is a sub-lessee under Fuel Tech’s 
January 29, 2004 lease of its offices in Stamford, Connecticut.  

ABC reimburses Fuel Tech for its share of lease and lease-
related expenses under the sublease agreement. Please refer 
to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for a further 
discussion of this topic. At December 31, 2008, $23 is due from 
ABC related to the compensation and sublease agreements. 

10. Defined Contribution Plan

Fuel Tech has a retirement savings plan available for all U.S. 
employees who have met minimum length-of-service require-
ments. Our contributions are determined based upon amounts 
contributed by Fuel Tech’s employees with additional contribu-
tions made at the discretion of Fuel Tech’s Board of Directors. 
Costs related to this plan were $851, $802 and $612 in 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

11.  Business Segment, Geographic and Quarterly 
Financial Data

Business Segment Financial Data 
Fuel Tech segregates its financial results into two reportable 
segments representing two broad technology segments  
as follows:

•   The Air Pollution Control  technology  segment, which 
includes the NOxOUT®, NOxOUT CASCADE®, GSG, NOxOUT 
ULTRA® and NOxOUT-SCR® processes for the reduction 
of NOx emissions in flue gas from boilers, incinerators, 
furnaces and other stationary combustion sources; and

•   The  FUEL  CHEM® technology segment, which uses 
chemical processes for the control of slagging, fouling, 
corrosion, opacity, acid plume and sulfur trioxide-
related issues in furnaces and boilers through the 
addition of chemicals into the fuel using TIFI™ Targeted 
In-Furnace Injection™ technology. 

The “Other” classification includes those profit and  
loss items not allocated by Fuel Tech to each reportable 
 segment. Further, there are no intersegment sales that require 
elimination.

Fuel Tech evaluates performance and allocates resources 
based on reviewing gross margin by reportable segment. The 
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as 
those described in the summary of significant accounting poli-
cies. Fuel Tech does not review assets by reportable segment, 
but rather, in aggregate for Fuel Tech as a whole.
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Information about reporting segment net sales and gross margin are provided below:

For the year ended December 31, 2008
Air Pollution 

Control Segment
FUEL CHEM 

Segment Other Total

Revenues from external customers $ 44,393 $ 36,681 $ — $ 81,074
Cost of sales 24,365 19,979 1 44,345

Gross margin 20,028 16,702 (1) 36,729
Selling, general and administrative — — 28,012 28,012
Research and development — — 2,100 2,100

Operating income (loss) $ 20,028 $ 16,702 $ (30,113) $ 6,617

For the year ended December 31, 2007
Air Pollution 

Control Segment
FUEL CHEM 

Segment Other Total

Revenues from external customers $ 47,750 $ 32,547 $ — $ 80,297
Cost of sales 25,775 16,619 77 42,471

Gross margin 21,975 15,928 (77) 37,826
Selling, general and administrative — — 24,950 24,950
Research and development — — 2,137 2,137

Operating income (loss) $ 21,975 $ 15,928 $ (27,164) $ 10,739

For the year ended December 31, 2006
Air Pollution 

Control Segment
FUEL CHEM 

Segment Other Total

Revenues from external customers $ 46,454 $ 28,661 $ — $ 75,115
Cost of sales 26,328 11,932 169 38,429

Gross margin 20,126 16,729 (169) 36,686
Selling, general and administrative — — 23,901 23,901
Research and development — — 2,052 2,052

Operating income (loss) $ 20,126 $ 16,729 $ (26,122) $ 10,733
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Geographic Segment Financial Data
Information concerning Fuel Tech’s operations by geographic 
area is provided below. Revenues are attributed to countries 
based on the location of the customer. Assets are those directly 
associated with operations of the geographic area.

For the years ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues:
 United States $ 68,433 $ 67,534 $ 57,628
 Foreign 12,641 12,763 17,487

$ 81,074 $ 80,297 $ 75,115

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Assets:
 United States $ 81,241 $ 79,132 $ 62,190
 Foreign 7,632 8,082 3,470

$ 88,873 $ 87,214 $ 65,660

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Fuel Tech had two 
customers that individually represented greater than 10% of 
revenues. In total these two customers represented 28% of 
revenues, one procuring products solely from the APC tech-
nology segment and the other procuring products solely from 
the FUEL CHEM technology segment.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech had two 
customers that individually represented greater than 10% of 
revenues. In total, these two customers represented 23% of 
revenues and utilized the product line offered by Fuel Tech’s 
APC technology segment.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, Fuel Tech had one 
customer that represented greater than 10% of revenues. This 
customer represented 25% of revenues and utilized the prod-
uct line offered by Fuel Tech’s APC technology segment.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

Quarterly Financial Data 
Set forth below are the unaudited quarterly financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

For the quarters ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2008(a)

 Revenues $ 20,467 $ 18,791 $ 23,703 $ 18,113
 Cost of sales 10,669 9,833 13,019 10,824
 Net income (loss) 1,633 447 2,102 (580)
 Net income (loss) per Common Share:
  Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.02 $ 0.09 $ (0.02)
  Diluted $ 0.07 $ 0.02 $ 0.09 $ (0.02)

2007(b)

 Revenues $ 16,262 $ 16,210 $ 15,246 $ 32,579
 Cost of sales 8,957 9,083 8,018 16,413
 Net income 792 282 927 5,242
 Net income per Common Share:
  Basic $ 0.04 $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.23
  Diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.21

(a)  The total of the basic and diluted net income amounts per share for the four quarters ending December 31, 2008 does not sum to the 
amounts presented on the consolidated statement of income for the year ending December 31, 2008 due to rounding.

(b)  The total of the basic net income amounts per share for the four quarters ending December 31, 2007 does not sum to the amounts presented 
on the consolidated statement of income for the year ending December 31, 2007 due to rounding.
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12. Business Acquisitions

Fuel Tech accounts for its acquisitions as purchases. Accordingly, 
in connection with each acquisition, the purchase price is allo-
cated to the estimated fair values of all acquired tangible and 
intangible assets and assumed liabilities as of the date of the 
acquisition.

Tackticks, LLC & FlowTack, LLC
On October 2, 2008, Fuel Tech completed its acquisitions of 
substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities 
of Durham, North Carolina-based Tackticks, LLC (Tackticks) and 
FlowTack, LLC (FlowTack) for a total cash consideration of $4,000. 
No future consideration is due. We believe the addition of these 
companies will make Fuel Tech a synergistically more powerful 
company by broadening its product offerings, strengthening 
its modeling capabilities, exposing it to a new client base, and 
enabling it to participate in the sizable SCR end of the air pol-
lution control market in a more meaningful way. The addition 
of the two management teams, including one of the world’s 
foremost experts in the design and optimization of traditional 
catalyst-based SCR systems, will significantly enhance Fuel 
Tech’s ability to sell hybrids such as our NOxOUT CASCADE 
offering, which integrates a single layer of catalyst into the 
Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction process. Tackticks and 
FlowTack will be reported as part of the APC segment.

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, 
accordingly, the purchase price plus acquisition costs of 
approximately $4.2 million was allocated to the fair market 
values of acquired tangible and intangible assets of approxi-
mately $4.9 million and assumed liabilities of approximately 
$0.7 million as of October 3, 2008. Intangible assets acquired 
include, among others, customer relationships, covenants not 
to compete, and technology with a fair value of approximately 
$0.9 million. Based upon a preliminary purchase price alloca-
tion, goodwill of approximately $3.0 million has been recorded. 
We expect the goodwill balance to be deductible for income  
tax purposes. Subsequent adjustments may be made to the 
purchase price and purchase price allocation based upon, 
among other things, the settlement of the tangible net worth 
calculation; however, we do not expect that any such adjustments 
will be material. 

Advanced Combustion Technology, Inc.
On December 5, 2008, Fuel Tech signed a definitive agreement 
to acquire certain assets and assume certain liabilities of 
Hooksett, New Hampshire-based Advanced Combustion 
Technology, Inc. (ACT) for approximately $22,000 in cash plus 
performance-based contingent payments. We believe the addi-
tion of ACT’s nitrogen oxide (NOx) control systems, including 
low-NOx burners and over-fire air systems, will strengthen 
Fuel Tech’s position in the combustion modification market 
and will provide us with a total technical solution for NOx con-
trol from the burner to the stack. In addition, this acquisition 
should provide a natural con duit for potential follow-on busi-
ness from those clients requiring deeper emission reductions 
that can only be satisfied with post-combustion NOx controls. 
Our customers should benefit from the added flexibility 
afforded by ACT’s HERT™ High Energy Reagent Technology™ 
system, which will complement Fuel Tech’s suite of post-com-
bustion technical solutions based on our NOxOUT technolo-
gies. The acquisition closed on January 5, 2009; see note 
13—Subsequent Events, for additional information. ACT will be 
reported as part of the APC segment.

13. Subsequent Events

On January 6, 2009, Fuel Tech announced that it had completed 
its acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Advanced 
Combustion Technology, Inc. and is currently in the process  
of allocating the purchase price to the fair market values of 
acquired tangible and intangible assets and assumed liabilities 
as of January 5, 2009.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) 
under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Evaluation Date”). Based 
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our 
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure 
that information required to be disclosed in the reports that 
we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  
is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within 
the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and com-
municated to our management, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow 
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Change in Internal Controls
There has been no change in our internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control  
Over Financial Reporting 
Fuel Tech’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 
as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange 
Act. As required by Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act, 
Fuel Tech’s management carried out an evaluation, with the 
participation of Fuel Tech’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of its internal control over 
financial reporting as of the end of the last fiscal year. The frame-
work on which such evaluation was based is contained in the 
report entitled Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the “COSO Report”).

Fuel Tech’s system of internal control over financial 
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its  inherent 
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not 
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any eval-
uation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on its assessment, management has concluded that 
Fuel Tech maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public 
accounting firm, who audited and reported on the consolidated 
financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 
10-K, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting. This attestation report 
is included on page 41 of this Annual Report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Fuel Tech, Inc.

We have audited Fuel Tech, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and 
Subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is respon-
sible for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of  internal 
control over financial reporting, included the accompanying 
Manage ment’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting appearing on page 40. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company;  

 
 
 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of  management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Fuel Tech and Subsidiaries maintained, in 
all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as  
of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated 
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, 
and our report dated March 5, 2009 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those financial statements. 

Chicago, Illinois
March 5, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Fuel Tech, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Fuel Tech, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and Subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related 
con solidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Fuel Tech, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 5, 2009 
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effective operation of 
internal control over financial reporting.

Chicago, Illinois
March 5, 2009
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Table of Defined Terms

Term Definition

ABC ........................................................................ American Bailey Corporation

AIG .......................................................................... Ammonia Injection Grid

CAIR ....................................................................... Clean Air Interstate Rule

CAVR ...................................................................... Clean Air Visibility Rule

CDT ........................................................................ Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc.

CFD ........................................................................ Computational Fluid Dynamics

Common Shares ................................................... Shares of the Common Stock of Fuel Tech

Common Stock ...................................................... Common Stock of Fuel Tech

EPA ......................................................................... Environmental Protection Agency

FUEL CHEM®.........................................................  A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s fuel and flue gas treatment processes, 
including its TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology, to control slagging, 
fouling, corrosion and a variety of sulfur trioxide-related issues

Fuel Tech ............................................................... Fuel Tech, Inc. and its subsidiaries

GSG ........................................................................ Graduated Straightening Grid

HERT™ High Energy Reagent Technology™ ...... A trademark used to describe a Fuel Tech system for the reduction of NOx

Investors ................................................................  The purchasers of Fuel Tech securities pursuant to a Securities Purchase 
Agreement as of March 23, 1998

Loan Notes ............................................................ Nil Coupon Non-redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes of Fuel Tech

NOx ........................................................................ Oxides of nitrogen

NOxOUT CASCADE® ............................................. A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s combination of NOxOUT and SCR

NOxOUT® Process ................................................ A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s SNCR process for the reduction of NOx

NOxOUT-SCR® ......................................................  A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s direct injection of urea as a catalyst 
reagent

NOxOUT ULTRA® ..................................................  A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s process for generating ammonia for 
use as SCR reagent

Rich Reagent Injection Technology (RRI) ............  An SNCR-type process that broadens the NOx reduction capability of the 
NOxOUT Process at a cost similar to NOxOUT. RRI can also be applied on a 
stand-alone basis.

SCR ........................................................................ Selective Catalytic Reduction

SIP Call .................................................................. State Implementation Plan Regulation

SNCR ..................................................................... Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction

TCI™ Targeted Corrosion Inhibition™ .................  A FUEL CHEM program designed for high-temperature slag and corrosion control, 
principally in waste-to-energy boilers

TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ ...............  A proprietary technology that enables the precise injection of a chemical reagent 
into a boiler or furnace as part of a FUEL CHEM program
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Based on information from the Company’s Transfer Agent and from banks and brokers, the Company estimates that, as 
of February 24, 2009, there were approximately 24,000 beneficial holders and 277 registered stockholders of Fuel Tech’s 
Common Shares. The Company’s Common Shares are listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (Symbol: FTEK). High 
and low share prices are as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Share price Share Price Share Price

High low High Low High Low

First Quarter $22.94 $14.15 $29.68 $22.54 $16.75 $ 8.11
Second Quarter 27.16 17.55 38.20 21.65 18.80 11.15
Third Quarter 24.76 14.52 35.85 20.65 16.45 10.07
Fourth Quarter 18.95 6.05 34.48 16.89 27.44 14.40

Principal Locations

Fuel Tech, Inc.
27601 Bella Vista Parkway
Warrenville, Illinois 60555
630-845-4500
630-845-4501 (Fax)
www.ftek.com

695 East Main Street
Stamford, Connecticut 06901
203-425-9830
203-425-9823 (Fax)

1106 Hooksett Road
Hooksett, New Hampshire 03106
603-627-9444
603-627-9449 (Fax)

247 Booth Meadow Lane
Durham, North Carolina 27713
919-484-1500
919-484-1544 (Fax)

Fuel Tech SrL
Centro Direzionale
“Le Torri”
Via Marsala, 34/A
21013 Gallarate (Varese)
Italy
39.0331.701110
39.0331.701099 (Fax)

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental
Technologies Co., Ltd.
Room 1912, Tower B,
Peking Times Square
103 Huizhongli, Chaoyang District
Beijing 100101, P.R. China
86-10-8487 1472-1477
86-10-8487 1470 (Fax)

Annual Stockholders’ Meeting

The Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
will be held on May 21, 2009 at  
10:00 A.M. in Lisle, Illinois. A formal 
notice of the meeting, together  
with a proxy statement and form  
of proxy, will be mailed to stock-
holders on or about April 21, 2009.

Independent Auditors

Grant Thornton LLP
Chicago, Illinois

Transfer Agent and Registrar

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services, LLC
480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, New Jersey 07310-1900
800-288-9541
201-680-6578 (Int’l.)
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Investor Relations

Stockholder inquiries should be 
directed to:

Tracy H. Krumme
Vice President, Investor Relations  
and Corporate Communications
203-425-9830
800-887-3835
tkrumme@ftek.com

Fuel Tech, the stylized Fuel Tech logo, FUEL CHEM, the stylized FUEL CHEM logo, NOxOUT, NOxOUT CASCADE, NOxOUT-SCR, NOxOUT ULTRA, HERT 
High Energy Reagent Technology, TCI Targeted Corrosion Inhibition, and TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection are registered trademarks of Fuel Tech, Inc. 
All other trademarks, brands and names are the property of their respective owners.

Corporate Information

Stock Information
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